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Corporate Profile

A RICHER 
LIFE FOR 

EACH OF uS
T he Hiap Hoe Group has more than three decades of experience 

in the construction and building industry, and has been 
responsible for a large and varied number of architectural and structural 
projects in Singapore.

Today, Hiap Hoe Limited is primarily focused on developing luxury and 
mid-tier residential properties that are distinct in design and preferred 
for their excellent investment prospects and location. Prominent among 
these developments are the City Edge, Cuscaden Royale and Oxford 
Suites which were fully sold soon after their respective launches, as 
well as Signature At Lewis, The Beverly and Waterscape At Cavenagh. 
upcoming signature developments include choice residences at St 
Thomas Walk and Balmoral Road.

In addition to its core business of property investment and development, 
Hiap Hoe is also involved in the civil engineering and construction 
business which are conducted through its wholly owned subsidiary, 
Westbuild Construction Pte. Ltd. (“Westbuild”). Westbuild is 
mainly engaged in the building of the Group’s developments, but 
also simultaneously continues to pursue opportunities via third-party 
contracts.



Bringing Value to Life

a good home design becomes
great only when it matches your vision, 

aspirations and is an extension of who you are 
and how you want to live life. 
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Financial Highlights

2009 2008 2007
$’000 $’000 $’000

Group Profit and Loss Accounts
Revenue 110,480 29,729 92,220
Profit from Operating Activities 41,401 8,532 22,871
Profit before Taxation 41,622 8,252 22,966
Net Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 34,350 8,291 19,452

Group Balance Sheet
Property, Plant and Equipment 6,277 3,741 3,923
Investment Properties 5,410 7,192 5,750
Investment in Joint Venture – – 600
Current Assets 590,206 523,399 205,256
Current Liabilities 89,597 20,921 27,375
Non-Current Liabilities 337,343 371,793 72,512
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 174,766 141,360 115,271

Per Share Data (Cents)
Earnings after Tax (Basic) 9.08 2.46 6.95
Net Tangible Assets 46.21 37.38 37.95
Dividend 0.25 0.25 1.00

Financial Ratios
Return on Average Shareholders’ Funds (%) 21.73 6.46 21.11
Debt Equity Ratio (Times) 2.28 2.69 0.77
Current Ratio (Times) 6.59 25.02 7.50
Quick Ratio (Times) 0.60 2.77 2.58
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Chairman’s Statement

DEAR Shareholders,

I t is with great pleasure that I report that the Group 
has had a net profit increase of $26.1 million in 2009, 

a marked 319.5% increase over 2008, the highest profit in the 
last seven years. Gross revenue was similarly a record high of 
$110.5 million, a 271.6% increase over 2008’s $29.7 million.

Despite Singapore’s weak start to the year 2009, the economy 
had already started to pick up before the end of the second 
quarter. Subsequently, the Singapore government had 
repeatedly revised their GDP contraction amounts by smaller 
and smaller figures, and the economy even grew 0.8% in the 
third quarter of 2009, which was the first growth in more 
than a year.

Teo Guan Seng, bbm Chairman

Property prices mirrored the economy, with prices dropping 
during the first quarter but picking up in the second and 
heading upwards to a 7.4% increase in the fourth quarter of 
2009. Overall property prices increased 1.8% in 2009. Prices 
were also boosted by the increase in demand for private 
property. In the second quarter of 2009, the total number of 
private property transactions alone exceeded the total number 
of home units sold for the whole of 2008.

Consequently, we went ahead with the launching of two of 
our residential projects in 2009 — The Beverly, and Signature 
At Lewis in the first half of 2009. To date, both have 
successfully sold over 70% of the units launched. Proceeds 
from these units sold will be progressively recognised at 
various construction milestones and will provide revenue 
through the next few years. Waterscape At Cavenagh was 
ready for sale towards the end of 2009. We officially launched  
Waterscape At Cavenagh in March 2010, and have since sold 
more than 50%.

Our previous fully-sold projects — Cuscaden Royale and 
Oxford Suites provided the bulk of our revenue for the year 
2009. The majority came from these two projects that had 
begun construction before 2009. As construction began for 
Signature At Lewis and Skyline 360o in 2009 itself, revenue 
from these developments were recognised as well. The final 
2% of City Edge, which was completed and handed over in 
2007, was also recognised in 2009.

The 190,000 sq ft, 99-year leasehold land parcel along Balestier 
Road/Ah Hood Road that the Group won via tender in 2008 
has been divided into three sections. Two of these will be 
hotel-cum-commercial developments, and will flank the third 
section, which will be a park. I am pleased to announce that 
we have appointed Wyndham Hotel Management Inc. to 
manage the two aforementioned hotels.

Wyndham Hotel Management, Inc. is part of the Wyndham 
Group, which manages over 7,000 hotels in 65 countries 
under a variety of hotel brands and was listed as one of 
Fortune Magazine’s Most Admired Companies for 2009. 
The hotels that they will be managing for us will be operated 
under the Ramada and Days Inn brands.
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“Gross revenue was similarly a record high of  $110.5 million, a 
271.6% increase over 2008’s $29.7 million.”

As the development of the Balestier Road/Ah Hood Road 
site is in line with the uRA’s plan to rejuvenate the heritage-
rich Balestier area, the park will be named Zhongshan Park, 
after Dr. Sun Yat Sen, who also went by the name of Sun 
Zhongshan. The Sun Yat Sen Nanyang Memorial Hall, a 
museum opened in 1965 and housed in a villa built in 1880, 
is situated just behind the land parcel and will undoubtedly 
be an attraction for future hotel guests.

Outlook
Despite the early signs of recovery, the Group remains 
cautious about its outlook. Bearing in mind the macro 
uncertainties that lie ahead, the Group will continue to take 
a prudent approach with regard to the launch of its other 
residential projects.

Dividend/Bonus Issue
In appreciation to all our shareholders for their continuous 
support, the Board is recommending a final dividend of 0.25 
cent per ordinary share for 2009. In addition, the Company is 
also having a bonus issue of up to 94,911,590 ordinary shares 
in the capital of the Company to be allotted on the basis of 
one bonus share for every four existing ordinary shares.

Appreciation
I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to our 
bankers and business associates for their confidence and trust 
in us. To our Board members, the management and staff, 
thank you for your undaunted efforts and commitment to 
the Group through the year.

Teo Guan Seng, BBM

Chairman



We Prize Foresight,  
Integrity and Commitment

Absolute and uncompromising integrity is 
what conducts hiap hoe’s business. It is the 
foundation for trust, communication and 

living-up to commitments, which act as pillars 
for the company’s existence.
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Group Structure

Hiap Hoe Limited

Construction Company

Westbuild Construction 
Pte. Ltd.

100%

Hotel/Commercial Properties 
Development Companies

Residential Properties 
Development Companies

HH Properties 
Pte. Ltd.

50%

HHA Properties
Pte. Ltd.

50%

Cantonment 
Development Pte. Ltd.

40%

Leng Hoe Development
Pte. Ltd.

100% Guan Hoe Development
Pte Ltd

100%

Leong Hoe Development
Pte. Ltd.

Keng Hoe Development
Pte Ltd

100% 100%

Oxford Development
Pte. Ltd.

Hiap Hoe Investment
Pte. Ltd.

(formerly known as Siong 
Hoe Development

Pte Ltd)(1)

100% 100%

Cavenagh Properties
Pte. Ltd.

Wah Hoe Development
Pte. Ltd.

100% 100%

Bukit Panjang Plaza
Pte Ltd

Goodluck View
Development

100%

60%

Hiap Hoe Superbowl JV
Pte. Ltd.

60%

Note 1: The change of name is effective from 17 March 2010.
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Board of Directors

Teo Guan Seng, bbm
Chairman

Mr Teo was appointed as Director and Chairman of Hiap 
Hoe Limited (Hiap Hoe) on 16 January 2003, and has been 
the Managing Director of Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd and 
its Group of subsidiaries (Hiap Hoe Group) since 14 March 
1983. He is also a member of the Nominating Committee.

As the founder of the Hiap Hoe Group, Mr Teo’s expertise 
and experience in the construction, property and leisure 
industries have been instrumental to its growth and 
development. Mr Teo is involved in chairing the Board 
of Directors’ meetings. Mr Teo Guan Seng is currently 
the Executive Chairman of SuperBowl Holdings Limited 
(SuperBowl) and is involved in ensuring the implementation 
of corporate policies and strategies. He is also responsible for 
the financial and operational performance of SuperBowl. He 
was awarded the PBM (Pingat Bakti Masyarakat) in 1995, and 
the BBM (Bintang Bakti Masyarakat) in 2000.

Teo Ho Beng
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer

Mr Teo was appointed as Director and Managing Director on 
16 January 2003 and has been a Director of Hiap Hoe Group 
since 1983. He assumed the position of Chief Executive 
Officer on 16 January 2006. He has more than 35 years of 
experience in the construction and property industries, and 
over 20 years of experience in the leisure industry. Mr Teo is 
responsible for the formulation of corporate strategies and 
policies for Hiap Hoe, and ensures their implementation by 
senior management at the operations level. He also chairs 
the senior management meetings to monitor Hiap Hoe’s 
performance, and oversees management, budgeting and 
forecasting procedures to ensure there is prudent financial 
management. Mr Teo is currently the Managing Director 
of SuperBowl. As a Managing Director, he is not subject to 
retirement by rotation.

From left to right:   Teo Ho Beng, Cindy Lim, Teo Ho Kang, Teo Guan Seng, BBM 
Dr Wang Kai Yuen, Chan Boon Hui, Chan Wah Tiong, 
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Teo Ho Kang, Roland
Executive Director

Mr Teo was appointed as Director on 16 January 2003. He 
has been a Director of Hiap Hoe Group since 1999, and 
was appointed as an Executive Director and the Deputy 
Managing Director of SuperBowl on 28 September 1995. 
With more than 20 years of experience in the property and 
leisure industries, Mr Teo is responsible for overseeing the 
marketing and promotion of Hiap Hoe’s properties and their 
performance. He also takes care of the Group’s product 
development and business expansion and staff development. 
Mr Teo holds a Bachelor in Business Administration from the 
American Intercontinental university. His last re-election to 
the Board was on 19 April 2007.

Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy
Executive Director

Ms Lim was appointed as Director on 16 January 2003. She 
is a Certified Public Accountant and has been the Financial 
Controller of SuperBowl since 1995. With more than 21 years 
of experience in finance, Ms Lim is responsible for overseeing 
the financial affairs and business development of Hiap Hoe 
and SuperBowl. Ms Lim was an auditor at Deloitte & Touche, 
Singapore before joining the airline industry. She graduated 
from the National university of Singapore with a Bachelor of 
Accountancy degree in 1988. Her last re-election to the Board 
was on 22 April 2009.

Chan Wah Tiong
Independent, Non-Executive Director

Mr Chan was appointed as Director on 14 August 1998, and 
has been an independent Director of the Company since 
1998. He is the Chief Executive Officer of All Saints Home, 
a non-profit organization that provides residential nursing 
care for the elderly infirm of all races and religions in the 
community.

Mr Chan brings extensive financial, accounting and compliance 
experience, having served as external Auditor, Accountant, 
Financial Analyst, Financial Director and CFO of several 
companies (both local and multinational) in semiconductor, 
manufacturing, trading, construction and non profit 
organisation. Mr Chan is also an Independent Director of 
Koda Limited, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange. 
He is also the audit committee chairman of Care Corner 
Singapore – a non-profit voluntary welfare organisation that 
provides a wide scope of community services.

A Certified Public Accountant with the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants of Singapore, Mr Chan holds a Bachelor 
of Accountancy and a Graduate Diploma in Social Work from 
the National university of Singapore. His last re-election to 
the Board was on 24 April 2008.

Dr Wang Kai Yuen
Independent, Non-Executive Director

Dr Wang was appointed as Director on 25 January 2002. He 
chairs the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating 
Committee and is a member of the Audit Committee.

Dr Wang served as a Member of Parliament for the Bukit 
Timah Constituency from December 1984 till April 2006. 
He was the Chairman of Feedback unit from 2002 till his 
retirement from politics. He retired from his full time position 
in Fuji Xerox in 2009.

Dr Wang also holds directorships at ComfortDelgro Group 
Ltd, Cosco Corp Singapore, CAO (Singapore) Corp, Asian 
Micro Holdings Ltd, Ezion Holdings Ltd, Xpress Holdings 
Ltd, China Lifestyle Foods and Beverages Group Ltd, Matex 
International Ltd, and others.

He graduated from the National university of Singapore with 
a Bachelor of Engineering (First Class Honours in Electrical 
and Electronics) in 1972. Dr Wang holds a Master of Science 
in Industrial Engineering, Masters of Science in Electrical 
Engineering, and a Doctorate in Engineering from Stanford 
university (uSA). His last re-election was on 24 April 2008.

Chan Boon Hui
Independent, Non-Executive Director

Mr Chan was appointed as Director on 4 April 2003. He has 
been a Senior Banker (Investment Banking) with OCBC Bank 
since September 2007. Prior to that, he was the Managing 
Director of Chancery Capital Pte Ltd. He has more than  
10 years of investment banking experience with BNP Paribas 
Peregrine and the Rothschilds Group in Singapore and New 
York. Mr Chan graduated from Cambridge university (uK) 
with a Master of Arts (Hons)(Law) in 1994, and is a Chartered 
Financial Analyst. His last re-election to the Board was on 
22 April 2009.
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Key Management

Aw Hui Mien, Jenny assumed the position of 
Financial Controller of Hiap Hoe Limited on 1 February 
2003. She is a Certified Public Accountant and a member 
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
(ACCA). After completing the ACCA examinations in 1993, 
Ms Aw worked as a graduate assistant with KPMG for 
a year. She joined Hiap Hoe in 1995, and her current 
responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s accounts and 
related matters.

Seoh Choon Hong, the Senior Accountant, is a 
graduate of the ACCA and a Certified Public Accountant who 
has gathered more than 15 years of experience in auditing 
and accounting. Prior to joining Hiap Hoe Limited in January 
2003, Ms Seoh was a Management Accountant with a public 
listed company. She is involved in the financial, taxation and 
corporate secretariat matters for the Hiap Hoe Group.

Teo Poh Sim is the Company’s Senior Manager. 
When she joined the Company on 1 February 2003 as 
Administration Manager, Ms Teo brought with her more 
than eleven years of experience in human resource and 
administration. She is responsible for formulating the human 
resource and administration policies of the Group, and 
oversees Group payroll, staff welfare and staff development, 
as well as administration. Ms Teo holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from the Pacific union College (uSA).

Bridget Tan joined the Company in October 2006 as 
Senior Manager (Property Development). With more than 18 
years of experience in real estate development, she oversees 
the property development arm of the Hiap Hoe Group.

Stella Goh joined Westbuild Construction Pte Ltd in 
July 2005 as Leasing Manager. With more than 17 years of 
involvement in property leasing, she has extensive specialist 
knowledge of the field. Ms Goh had worked for another 
well-known property developer before coming on board. 
Her responsibilities include the leasing of commercial and 
residential properties within the Hiap Hoe Group.

Teo Choon Meng, Jimmy, B. Eng (Civil), 
Singapore, MBA (Management Consultancy), uK, joined Hiap 
Hoe Group as Manager (Project Management). With more 
than 13 years of construction experience in China, Myanmar, 
Middle East and Singapore, Jimmy gained vast experience in 
various roles in construction. He has past experience as the 
developer representative for SembCorp for the development 
of Huayang Garden City Hotel in Sichuan, China.
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Calendar of Events
January to December 2009

25 February Residential development, The Beverly is launched

26 February 2008 Full Year Financial Statement and Dividend Announcement

22 April Annual General Meeting

8 May First Quarter Financial Statement and Dividend Announcement

16 May Residential development, Signature At Lewis is launched

11 August Second Quarter Financial Statement and Dividend Announcement

6 November Third Quarter Financial Statement and Dividend Announcement



Quality Indulgence

hiap hoe believes that gratifying the customer 
is the secret to growing the clientèle and 
expanding the business. The passion to excel 

in providing quality, luxury signature homes 
makes hiap hoe a frontrunner. It believes in 
exemplifying competence, connection and 
character to build a trusted relationship 

with its customers and partners.
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Financial Review

Profitability

D espite the sluggish economy, net profit for FY 2009 
reached a seven-year high of $34.3 million, which 

is a 319.5% increase over $8.18 million reported in FY 2008. 
The Group’s turnover was similarly strong at $110.5 million, 
a 271.6% improvement over FY 2008.

Cuscaden Royale and Oxford Suites, both of which were 
fully sold shortly after their respective launches in 2007, 
contributed more than 92.3% of the Group’s total FY 
2009 revenue. As construction had begun on both projects 
before 2009, progress payments from both developments 
will continue to stream in at various construction milestones. 
Cuscaden Royale brought in $73.2 million and Oxford Suites, 
$28.9 million.

In 2009, we launched The Beverly and Signature At Lewis. 
To date, we have sold 83 units out of 118 units of The 
Beverly, and 25 units out of 32 units of Signature At Lewis. 
As construction for Signature At Lewis has commenced, 
revenue of $6.2 million was recognised for this development. 
Having also managed to sell some of our units of our soon-
to-be launched Skyline 360°, where construction has also 
commenced, we were also able to recognise $1.2 million in 
revenue from this development.

The remainder of the revenue – $0.8 million – came from 
the final 2% of City Edge, which was completed and handed 
over in 2007.

Westbuild Construction Pte Ltd., the Group’s construction 
arm, was only involved in the Group’s projects through 
the year. However, the division generated $0.5 million of 
income from other sources, which mainly included rental of 
properties and fair value gain on quoted investment.

Most of FY 2009’s expenses came from cost of sales, which 
amounted to $66.7 million across the various projects. This 
was more than the $16.5 million in FY 2008 because of the 
significant increase in sales activity. Distribution and selling 
expenses – including advertising, commission, legal, and 
marketing expenses – came up to $1.1 million.

Other expenses include administrative expenses of $2.8 
million and financial expenses of $0.06 million. Administrative 
expenses were almost the same amount as that in FY 2008. 
Tax expenses of $7.3 million, were much higher than the 
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$0.07 million in FY 2008 primarily because of deferred 
taxation of $6.3 million from Cuscaden Royale and $0.8 
million from Oxford Suites.

Balance Sheet
The Group’s net current assets remained relatively steady 
at $500.6 million. The amount largely stemmed from 
development properties, which increased from $465.4 million 
in FY 2008 to $536.6 million in FY 2009. This was mainly due 
to progressive development and construction costs incurred, 
which resulted in an increase of $5.5 million in Other 
liabilities as provision of construction costs, decrease in cash, 
bank balances and fixed deposits amounting to $6.4 million 
and an increase of $16.6 million in total bank borrowings.

Interest bearing loans for Oxford Suites and Cuscaden 
Royale were reclassified from non-current liabilities to current 
liabilities, as they are expected to be repaid subsequent to 
the obtaining of the developments’ respective Temporary 
Occupation Permits (“TOP”). Oxford Suites and Cuscaden 
Royale received their TOP on 20 January 2010 and 26 
February 2010 respectively.

Deferred tax increased from $3.7 million to $10.6 million, 
mostly due to the recognition of profit on some projects prior 
to their being granted the TOP.
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Financial Review

Cash Flow
The net cash flow used in operating activities was just $15.6 
million as opposed to $281.7 million in FY 2008. The lower 
cash flow of $63.5 million in FY 2009 as compared to a hefty 
$323.1 million cash flow used to support the development 
properties in FY 2008 was the major contributing factor to 
the net change in cash flow used in operating activities. The 
other factor was the lower cash flow generated from other 
assets in FY 2009 as the deposits of $29.8 million placed 
for the en-bloc properties were classified to development 
properties in FY 2008 upon completion of purchase. Cash 
flow of $8.7 million was generated from other liabilities in 
FY 2009, compared to a cash outflow of $1.5 million in FY 
2008, which was due to provision of construction cost of 
$5.5 million, deferment of land tax of $1.8 million and $0.4 
million received for booking of residential units.

Net cash flows used in investing activities, which comprised 
mainly about $41.6 million in loan to joint ventures in FY 
2008, was also a lower sum of $0.25 million in FY 2009.

Net cash flows generated from financing activities of $9.3 
million, was much lower than the $302.9 million in FY 2008. 
The higher cash inflow in FY 2008 arose from the bank 
borrowings drawn down for the completion of the three en-
bloc acquisitions as well as the acquisition at Balestier Road/
Ah Hood Road.

Earnings per share
With the surge in profitability, earning per share of the group 
for the current financial year increased from 2.46 cents in FY 
2008 to 9.08 cents in FY 2009.
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Net asset value
Similarly, the net asset value of the group grew from 37.38 
cents in FY 2008 to 46.21 cents in FY 2009. With a net asset 
value of $174.8 million, the Group is well-poised to launch 
its remaining residential projects.

0

10

20

30

40

50

2007 2008

Net Asset Value 
Per Share

(cents)

37.95 37.38

46.21

2009



Hiap Hoe Limited Annual Report 2009

15

Risk Management

The practice of risk management is undertaken by the 
Company’s Executive Directors and senior executives of 
each business division under the purview of the Board of 
Directors.

The Group’s performance depends largely on its ability to 
manage a few key areas that have the greatest repercussions 
on its growth and profitability.

Interest Rate Exposure
Changes in interest rate are a major influence on the bottom 
line because the Group mainly finances its investments 
through bank borrowings.

The Group manages interest rate risk by arranging different 
credit facilities with various banks at competitive rates. It 
further hedges against fluctuations in the cost of borrowing 
through interest rate swap.

Responsiveness to Market Sentiments
The single most important income generator for the Group 
is property sales. The ability to tune its marketing strategy to 
buyers’ sentiments is crucial to achieving high sales volume 
and healthy profit margins.

The next challenge for the Group will be to seek an opportune 
time to launch some projects under its portfolio.

Reliability of Suppliers and 
Subcontractors
As part of good practice, the Group calls for tenders when 
selecting sub-contractors and suppliers for large-scale projects. 
This enables it to secure quality products and services at 
competitive prices. However, where the project size is small, 
the Group may from time to time, re-engage past partners 
who have proven track records. That is because the reliability 
of its partners has a knock-on effect on the efficiency and 
quality of the Group’s developments, and ultimately, on its 
ability to deliver its commitments to homebuyers and other 
stakeholders.

Timeliness in Completion of Projects
The Group has a high degree of control over the timeliness 
of its projects as their construction is assigned to its own 
fully-owned construction company, Westbuild Construction 
Pte. Ltd.. Timeliness in completion and delivery ensures 
compliance with contractual agreements, and prevents 
financial loss and interruptions in cash flow.

Human Resource Management
Keeping costs low and efficiency at its peak, the Group 
relies on a remarkably small team of dedicated staff for 
their contribution and continued service. The Group has to 
ensure that it is able to attract and retain high-calibre and 
dedicated staff, for the the success of its business. Skilful 
human resource management paves the way for the Group 
to continue on the path of growth.
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Residential Property Portfolio

Freehold 
Property

Approximate 
Land Area

(sq. metres)

Gross 
Floor Area

(sq. metres)

Effective 
Group 

Interest
(%)

Expected 
Completion 

Date
(Current Stage of 

Completion)

Percentage 
of Units 

Sold as at 
31 December 

2009

City Edge
18 Moulmein Rise
Singapore 308133

1,573 4,403 100%
6 December 2007

(100%)
100%

Cuscaden Royale
5 Cuscaden Walk
Singapore 249696

1,606 4,046 100%
26 February 2010

(94%)
100%

Oxford Suites
23 Oxford Road

Singapore 218813
1,701 4,762 100%

20 January 2010
(95%)

100%

Signature At Lewis
1 Lewis Road

Singapore 258617
2,014 3,222 100%

31 December 2011
(25%)

72%

Waterscape At 
Cavenagh
65, 65A to 65E
Cavenagh Road

Singapore 229619/
20/30/31/32/33

9,401 19,743 100%
31 December 2014

(–)
4%(1)

The Beverly
45/47 Toh Tuck Road
Singapore 596720/22

11,516 16,122 60%
31 May 2013

(2%)
69%

Treasure on 
Balmoral

5/5A Balmoral Road
Singapore 259786/822

4,314 7,454 60%
31 July 2013

(–)
–(1)

Skyline 3600 @
St Thomas Walk

68 St Thomas Walk
Singapore 238142

4,088 11,446 100%
30 June 2013

(16%)
5%(1)

Note:
(1) These properties will be launched after FY2009.
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Corporate Governance

The Board is committed to uphold effective corporate procedures and policies in compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 
2005 (“Code”). The Board believes that good corporate governance establishes and maintains an ethical environment, which strives to 
enhance the interests of all shareholders. This report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities that were in 
place throughout the financial year, with specific references made to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code.

Board Matters

Principle 1: The Board’s conduct of affairs

The Board meets regularly to review and approve the Company’s strategic directions, appointment of directors, business results, major 
funding and investment proposals. The Board also reviews the financial performance of the Group and supervises the management of the 
business and affairs of the Group. The Board of Directors would ensure that decisions are made in the interests of the Company.

The Board of Directors is free to request for further clarification and information from management on all matters within their purview. 
The Board will conduct at least 4 meetings in a year and ad-hoc meetings will be convened, when required. The Company’s Articles of 
Association provides for the Board to convene meetings via telephone conferencing and electronic means.

The attendance of the directors and the various meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2009 is as follows:

BOARD
AUDIT 

COMMITTEE
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE
NOMINATING 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE

Name

Number 
of 

Meetings Attendance

Number 
of 

Meetings Attendance

Number 
of

Meetings Attendance

Number 
of 

Meetings Attendance

Number 
of 

Meetings Attendance

Mr Teo Guan Seng, 
bbm 4 4 N.A. – N.A. – 1 – 9 9

Mr Teo Ho Beng 4 4 N.A. 4* N.A. 1* N.A. 1* 9 9

Mr Teo Ho Kang, 
Roland 4 4 N.A. – N.A. – N.A. – 9 9

Ms Lim Kim Soon 
Lee, Cindy 4 4 N.A. 4* N.A. 1* N.A. 1* 9 9

Mr Chan Wah Tiong 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 – –

Dr Wang Kai Yuen 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 – –

Mr Chan Boon Hui 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 – –

* By invitation

In order to provide an independent oversight and to discharge its responsibilities more efficiently, the Board has delegated certain functions 
to various Committees. These Committees consists of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nominating Committee and Executive 
Committee. The Chairman of the respective Committees will report and update the Board on the outcome of the Committee meetings and 
their recommendations on the specific agendas mandated to the Committee by the Board.

Newly appointed directors are provided with background information about the Group and are invited to visit the Group’s operations and 
facilities to have an understanding of the Group’s business operations. Directors receive updates from time to time, particularly on relevant 
new laws and regulation, changing commercial risks and business conditions from the Company’s relevant advisors and management.
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Board Composition and Guidance
Principle 2: Strong and independent element on the Board

The Board comprises three Executive Directors and four Non-Executive Directors. Three of the Non-Executive Directors are independent. 
This composition complies with the Code’s requirement that at least one-third of the Board should be made up of Independent 
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr Teo Ho Beng (Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland
Ms Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy

Non- Executive Directors
Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM (Chairman of the Board/Non-Executive Director)
Dr Wang Kai Yuen (Independent Director)
Mr Chan Boon Hui (Independent Director)
Mr Chan Wah Tiong (Independent Director)

The Board’s structure, size and composition are reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”). The NC is of the view that the 
Board is of the appropriate size and with the right mix of skills and experience given the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. The 
Directors’ extensive experience in business management, strategic planning and knowledge in accounting and finance is crucial to steer 
the Group in the direction of growth.

Details of the Directors’ academic and professional qualification can be found on pages 8 and 9.

Chairman and Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer
Principle 3: Clear division of Board and Management responsibilities

Mr Teo Guan Seng is the Chairman of the Board. Mr Teo Ho Beng, son of Chairman, is the Managing Director (“MD”) and Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”) of the Company.

The Chairman performs the following pertaining to the board proceedings:

(a) schedule meetings that enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly while not interfering with the flow of the Company’s 
operations;

(b) prepare meeting agenda in consultation with the CEO;

(c) exercise control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between the Management and the Board; and

(d) assist in ensuring compliance with the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The MD/CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group as well as the exercise of control over the quality, quantity and 
timeliness of information flow between the Board and Management and in developing the business of the Group.

Major decisions made by the Chairman and MD/CEO are reviewed by the Audit Committee. Given the separate roles and responsibilities 
held by the Chairman and MD/CEO, the Board is of the opinion that their relationship does not affect the independence and effective 
running of the Board.

As such, the Board believes that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one 
individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

Board Membership
Principle 4: Formal and transparent process for appointment of Directors

The NC comprises of the following members of whom three are Independent Directors:

(1) Dr Wang Kai Yuen (Chairman of NC/Independent Director)
(2) Mr Chan Boon Hui (Independent Director)
(3) Mr Chan Wah Tiong (Independent Director)
(4) Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM (Chairman of the Board/Non-Executive Director)
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Board Membership (cont’d)

The NC makes recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments and re-nominations. The NC has conducted an annual review 
of directors’ independence based on the Code’s criteria for independence. The NC, having evaluated the independence of each Director 
is of the view that Messrs Chan Boon Hui, Chan Wah Tiong and Dr Wang Kai Yuen are independent.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide for at least one third of the Directors, other than the Managing Director, to retire from 
office by rotation at each Annual General Meeting. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the Annual General Meeting. 
The Company’s Articles of Association also provides that Managing Directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.

Pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM who is over 70 years of age, is subject to re-
appointment as Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.

The Board has accepted NC’s nomination of the retiring Directors, namely, Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland and Mr Chan Wah Tiong at this 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

New Directors are appointed by way of board resolutions, after the NC has reviewed the qualifications and experience of the nominated 
directors.

Board Performance
Principle 5: Formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board and contribution of each Director

For the year under review, the NC has evaluated the Board’s performance as a whole, which includes the participation and contribution 
of individual Directors to the management of the Company at Board and Committee Meetings.

Access to information
Principle 6: Board members to have complete, adequate and timely information

Board members are provided with detailed management information, as and when requested by the Board. In addition, all relevant 
information on material events and transactions are circulated to Directors as and when they arise. Draft announcements will be circulated 
to the Board for review and approval before dissemination to the shareholders via SGXNET.

The Company Secretary would assist to prepare the Board Papers of the meetings for circulation. The Directors receive the Board papers at 
least 2 days before the meeting so that the Directors have ample time to review. All Board members have separate and independent access to 
the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that 
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary and/or her representatives are present at all Board Meetings.

Should Directors, whether as a group or individually, need independent advice to fulfill their duties, they may obtain independent professional 
advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.

Remuneration Matters
Principle 7: Procedures for developing remuneration policies
Principle 8: Level and mix of remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure on remuneration

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises entirely of non-executive and Independent Directors and they are:

(1) Dr Wang Kai Yuen (Chairman of RC/Independent Director)

(2) Mr Chan Wah Tiong (Independent Director)

(3) Mr Chan Boon Hui (Independent Director)

The RC has adopted a framework of remuneration for the Board, and determined specific remuneration packages for each executive 
Director. The recommendations of RC are submitted to the Board for endorsement.
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Remuneration Matters (cont’d)

The RC’s objective is to establish and maintain a level of remuneration that would be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the 
Directors to run the Company successfully. Each member of the RC refrains from voting on any resolutions in respect of the assessment 
of his remuneration.

The Executive Directors have service agreements which are renewed annually. The Service Agreements may be terminated by either the 
Company or the Executive Directors by giving 6 months’ written notice of termination to the other party.

Non-Executive Directors are paid directors’ fees, taking into consideration individual contribution, attendance at various meetings and 
responsibilities held at the Committee level. The breakdown of fees are as follows:

Chairman of Board $47,000
Independent Member $27,000
Chairman of Audit Committee $15,000
Chairman of Remuneration Committee $ 5,000
Chairman of Nominating Committee $ 5,000
Chairman of Executive Share Option Committee $ 5,000

Such fees are subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting every year.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are as follows:

Directors’ Fees1 Salary2 Bonus3 Other Benefits4

Remuneration S$ S$ S$ S$

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM 47,000 – – –
Mr Chan Wah Tiong 42,000 – – –
Dr Wang Kai Yuen 37,000 – – –
Mr Chan Boon Hui 32,000 – – –

Executive Directors
Mr Teo Ho Beng – 361,752 121,524 34,236
Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland – 166,236  56,062  1,990
Ms Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy – 112,236  38,062 21,340

Notes:
(1) Directors’ fee proposed for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.
(2) Salary includes gross salary and employer CPF contribution.
(3) Bonus includes salary and employer CPF contribution.
(4) Other benefits include company car, its maintenance costs and club subscription.

The range of gross remuneration received by the top 6 executives (excluding executive Directors) of the Group is as follows:

Remuneration Bands No. of executives

$200,000 & above –
$100,000 to $199,999 3
Below $100,000 3
Total 6
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Remuneration Matters (cont’d)

The range of gross remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the Chairman:

Remuneration Bands No. of employees

$150,000 & above –
Below $150,000 1

Employees’ Stock Options Scheme

The Scheme is a share incentive plan that enables the Company to give recognition to the contributions made by full-time employees 
(including Group Executive Directors) and Non-Executive Directors and at the same time, provides them with an opportunity to participate 
in the equity of the Company.

In addition, the Scheme will help to achieve the following objectives:

(i) motivate employees and directors, thereby optimizing their performance standards and efficiency levels; 

(ii) retain key employees and directors of the Company whose contributions are important to the long-term growth and profitability 
of the Group;

(iii) instill loyalty to, and an identification by employees with the long term prosperity of the Group;

(iv) attract potential employees with relevant skills to contribute to the Group and to create value for the Shareholders of the Company; 
and

(v) align the interests of the employees with that of the Shareholders.

The Scheme, which was approved by the shareholders on 28 April 2004, is administrated by the Executive Share Option Committee. The 
Committee administering the Scheme comprises the following directors of the Company:–

Mr Chan Boon Hui (Chairman)
Mr Chan Wah Tiong
Dr Wang Kai Yuen
Mr Teo Ho Beng

The aggregate number of Shares in respect of which Options may be offered to an employee or Director for subscription in accordance with 
the Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of the Committee, who shall take into account criteria such as the rank and responsibilities 
within the Group, performance, years of service/appointment and potential for future development of the Grantee and the performance 
of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued under the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at any time, and from time to time, during the existence of the Scheme. The size takes into 
account the issued share capital of the Company, the potential increase in the number of Employees and Non-Executive Directors and the 
grant of the Options over the duration of the Scheme.

Controlling shareholders of the Company or Associates (i.e. Mr Teo Ho Beng, Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland and Ms Teo Poh Sim) of such 
Controlling Shareholders participated in the Scheme as their participation and the number of Shares and terms of Options granted to them 
have been approved by independent shareholders of the Company on 28 April 2004. The actual numbers and terms of the Options to be 
granted to the Controlling Shareholders and their Associates shall be subject to the following:

(i) the aggregate number of Shares available to Controlling Shareholders and their Associates must not exceed 25% of the Shares 
available under the Scheme; and

(ii) the number of Shares available to each Controlling Shareholder or each of his Associates must not exceed 10% of the Shares 
available under the Scheme.
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Employees’ Stock Options Scheme (cont’d)

Options which are accepted by the Participants may be exercised during the Option period and at the relevant exercise prices. All Options 
granted to Employees, must be exercised before the tenth anniversary from the Date of Grant or such earlier date as may be determined 
by the Committee, failing which the Option shall be deemed to have expired and shall ceased to be valid. All Options granted to Non-
Executive Directors of the Group, must be exercised before the fifth anniversary from the Date of Grant or such earlier date as may be 
determined by the Committee, failing which Option shall be deemed to have expired and shall cease to be valid.

During the year ended 31 December 2004, the shares options were granted to Executive Directors as well as Independent, Non-Executive 
Directors. The Independent, Non-Executive Directors provide invaluable guidance in relation to the strategic issues and development of 
the Group with their wealth of experience in corporate governance and business management. Although they are not involved in the day-
to-day running of the Group, the Independent, Non-Executive Directors are frequently consulted on various matters in relation to the 
business of the Group. The Company therefore regards these persons as an additional resource pool and values their contributions greatly. 
The extension of the Scheme to Independent, Non-Executive Directors is therefore in recognition of their services and contributions to 
the growth and development of the Group.

Before granting any Option to an Independent, Non-Executive Director, the Committee takes into consideration, his performance and 
contributions to the success and development of the Group. In assessing the performance of these Directors, the attendance at meetings, 
the membership in various committees as well as the contribution of individual directors are taken into consideration. The Independent, 
Non-Executive Directors are also members of the Executive Share Option Committee. However, one of the Rules of the Scheme provides 
that no member of the Committee shall participate in any deliberation or decision in respect of Options to be granted to him or held by 
him. The Independent, Non-Executive Directors are granted a small number of Shares so as to minimise the potential conflict of interest 
and not to compromise the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Company intends to terminate the Hiap Hoe Share Option Scheme and replaced by a new compensation plan. Details of the proposed 
Hiap Hoe Performance Share Plan can be found in the Circular dated 5 April 2010.

Particulars of share options granted to directors are as follows:

Person to whom  
options were granted

Options granted 
during the financial
year under review 

Adjusted
Exercise

price

Aggregate
Options 

since date
of grant to
31.12.2009

Aggregate
Options 

cancelled
since date 
of grant to
31.12.2009

Options
outstanding

as at
31.12.2009

Directors
Mr Teo Ho Beng – $0.28 400,000 – –
Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland – $0.28 200,000 – –
Ms Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy – $0.28 200,000 – –

Independent, Non-Executive Directors
Mr Chan Wah Tiong – $0.28 60,000 – –
Dr Wang Kai Yuen – $0.28 60,000 – –
Mr Chan Boon Hui – $0.28 60,000 – –

Accountability and Audit
Principle 10: Accountability of the Board and Management

The Board is accountable to Shareholders for the management of the Group. The Board will update Shareholders on the operations and 
financial position of the Company through quarterly and full year results announcements as well as timely announcements of other matters 
as prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations through SGXNET. The management is accountable to the Board by providing the Board 
with necessary financial information for the discharge of its duties.

The Executive Committee meets periodically to review the performance of the Group. The Board is provided with periodic financial reports 
and other relevant disclosure documents, where appropriate, by Management.
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Audit Committee
Principle 11: Establishment of Audit Committee with written terms of reference

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises entirely of non-executive and Independent Directors and the AC members are as follows:

(1) Mr Chan Wah Tiong (Chairman of the AC/Independent Director)
(2) Dr Wang Kai Yuen (Independent Director)
(3) Mr Chan Boon Hui (Independent Director)

The Board is of the opinion that the members of AC have sufficient expertise and experience to discharge their duties.

The role of AC is to assist the Board of Directors in the execution of its corporate governance responsibilities within its terms of reference 
and requirements.

The functions of AC include:

(a) reviewing with the external auditors, the audit plan, their evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting 
controls, their audit report, the Management letter and Management’s responses;

(b) reviewing the quarterly and full year financial statements before submission to the Board for approval;

(c) reviewing the scope and results of the internal audit procedures including the effectiveness of the internal audit functions;

(d) reviewing the assistance given by Management to the external auditors;

(e) reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors 
annually and the nomination of their re-appointment as auditors of the Company;

(f) reviewing all non-audit services provided by the external auditors so as to ensure that any provision of such services would not 
affect the independence of external auditors;

(g) investigating any matters within its terms of reference; and

(h) reviewing interested person transactions falling within the scope of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) 
Listing Manual.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing framework, endorsed by the AC where staff of the Company has direct access to the Chairman 
of AC to raise concerns about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective of such 
arrangement is to ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

There were no whistle-blowing letters received during the year and until the date of this report.

The AC has full access to all personnel, records and other information to enable it to properly discharge its function and has full discretion 
to invite any Director and/or executive officer to attend its meetings. Each member of the AC shall abstain from voting any resolutions in 
respect of matters he is interested in. The AC has received full co-operation from Management and external auditors. The AC met quarterly 
during the year and all members were present during these meetings. For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the members met 
once with the external auditors without the presence of Management.

The AC has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors for financial year ended 31 December 2009, 
and is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The AC has recommended to the Board of Directors that 
Messrs Ernst & Young LLP be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Internal Controls
Principle 12: Sound system of internal controls

The Group maintains a system of internal controls for all companies within the Group. The controls are to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.

The AC and the Board of Directors will review the effectiveness of the key internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls, and risk management on an on-going basis.

The Board is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Group.
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Internal Audit

Principle 13: Internal audit

The internal audit function is out-sourced to a public accounting firm. The internal auditors report primarily to the Chairman of the AC. 
The internal auditors meet the standard set by internationally recognised professional bodies such as the Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

The internal auditors plan its internal audit schedules in consultation with, but independent of the Management. The audit plan is submitted 
to the AC for approval prior to the commencement of the internal audit. The AC reviews the activities of the internal auditors on a regular 
basis, including overseeing and monitoring of the implementation of improvements required on internal control weaknesses identified.

Communication with shareholders

Principle 14: Regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders
Principle 15: Shareholder participation at AGMs

The Group strives for timeliness and transparency in its disclosure to the shareholders and the public. In addition to the regular dissemination 
of information through SGXNET, the Company also responds to enquiries from investors, analysts, fund managers and the press. However, 
the Company does not practice selective disclosure as all price-sensitive information is released through SGXNET.

The Company maintains a website (http://www.hiaphoe.com) to bring public awareness of the Group’s latest development and businesses. 
The public can provide feedback to the Company via the electronic mail address or the registered address.

The Company delivers the Annual Reports to the Shareholders at least 14 days before the holding of the Annual General Meeting. Notice 
of the Annual General Meeting is also published on the national business newspaper, The Business Times. The shareholders can appoint 
up to two proxies to attend and vote at all general meetings on their behalf in the event that they are unable to attend the Meeting.

At Annual General Meetings, shareholders are given the opportunities to express their views and to raise their queries to the Board on 
matters relating to the operations of the Group. The Chairman of the Audit, Nominating, Remuneration and Executive Share Options 
Committees together with the external auditors are also present at the meetings to attend to questions raised by Shareholders.

Securities Transactions

In line with Chapter 12 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual on Dealings in Securities, the Company has adopted an internal compliance code 
to its Directors and Officers in relation to the dealings with the Company’s securities.

The Company issues circulars to its Directors, principal officers and relevant officers who have access to unpublished material price-sensitive 
information to remind them that they are required to report on their dealings in shares of the Company. They are also reminded of the 
prohibition in dealings in shares of the Company two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial results for each of the 
first three quarters of its financial year and one month before the release of the Company’s full year financial results, and ending on the 
date of the announcement of the relevant results, and when they are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information.

The guidelines on share buyback under the Share Buyback Mandate, to be renewed at the Company’s forthcoming AGM also provides 
that the Company will not effect any purchases of shares on the SGX-ST during the period of one month immediately preceding the 
announcement of the Company’s full year results and two weeks immediately before the announcement of the Company’s first quarter, 
second quarter and third quarter results.

Directors are required to report to the Company Secretary whenever they deal in the Company’s shares and the Company Secretary will 
make the necessary announcements in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST.



Hiap Hoe Limited Annual Report 2009

26

Corporate Governance

Securities Transactions (cont’d)

List of Directorships or Chairmanships held presently or in the last 3 years in other listed Companies:

Name of Director Company
Date of 

Appointment
Date of 

Resignation

Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM SuperBowl Holdings Limited 03 May 1994 –

Mr Teo Ho Beng SuperBowl Holdings Limited 03 May 1994 –

Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland SuperBowl Holdings Limited 28 Sep 1995 –

Dr Wang Kai Yuen A-Sonic Aerospace Ltd 1 Mar 2008 –

Asian Micro Holdings Limited 20 Aug 1999 –

Carats Limited (Delisted on 9 March 2009) 25 Oct 2007 –

China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd 28 Apr 2008 –

China Lifestyle Food & Beverages Group Ltd 28 Mar 2005 –

Comfort DelGro Corporation Limited 18 Feb 2003 –

COSCO Corporation (Singapore) Limited 2 May 2001 –

HLH Group Ltd 1 May 2006 –

EOC Ltd 11 Jul 2007 –

Koon Holdings Limited 11 Apr 2003 20 Nov 2008

Matex International Ltd 11 Jul 2003 –

Ezion Holdings Ltd 20 Jul 2000 –

SuperBowl Holdings Limited 1 Aug 1994 –

Xpress Holdings Ltd 08 Jun 1999 –

Mr Chan Wah Tiong Koda Ltd 1 Oct 2001 –

Mr Chan Boon Hui Transmarco Ltd 29 Mar 2006 31 Aug 2008

Vantage Corporation Limited 18 May 2004 8 Apr 2008

JCY International Berhad 13 Nov 2009 –
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Interested Person Transactions

Name of interested person Aggregate value of all interested person transactions during 
the financial year under review (excluding transactions less 
than $100,000 and transactions conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under the shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 
(excluding transactions less 
than $100,000)

Hiap Hoe & Co. Pte Ltd (a 
subsidiary of the ultimate holding 
company, Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte 
Ltd)

Provision of Project and Construction Management Service 
to the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries: 

– Bukit Panjang Plaza Pte Ltd. (Value of transaction 
amounting to $511,000) 

– Oxford Development Pte. Ltd. (Value of transactions 
amounting to $31,000) 

–  Leong Hoe Development Pte. Ltd. (Value of transactions 
amounting to $30,000) 

–  Guan Hoe Development Pte. Ltd. (Value of transactions 
amounting to $42,000) 

Provision of Project and Construction Management Service 
to the Company’s 60% owned subsidiary: 

–  Hiap Hoe SuperBowl JV Pte. Ltd. (Value of transactions 
amounting to $72,000) 

Provision of Project and Construction Management Service 
to the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary’s 60% share in 
joint venture: 

–  Goodluck View Development (60% share of value of 
transactions amounting to $117,000) 

Provision of Project and Construction Management Service 
to the Company’s 50% share in joint venture: 

–  HH Properties Pte. Ltd., Contract value of $2,560,000 
(50% share of value of transactions amounting to 
$384,000)

–
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Interested Person Transactions (cont’d)

Name of interested person Aggregate value of all interested person transactions during 
the financial year under review (excluding transactions less 
than $100,000 and transactions conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under the shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 
(excluding transactions less 
than $100,000)

SuperBowl Holdings Limited (a 
subsidiary of the ultimate holding 
company, Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte 
Ltd)

Contribution by the Company of its 60% proportion of the 
loan extended to: 

–  Hiap Hoe SuperBowl JV Pte. Ltd. (Value of loan as at 
31 December 09 amounting to $20,287,000) 

Interest income amounting to $50,300 

Contribution by the Company amounting to its 50% 
proportion of the loan extended to: 

– HH Properties Pte. Ltd. (Value of loan as at 31 December 
09 amounting to $38,994,000) 

Interest income amounting to $878,100

–

SuperBowl Management Pte Ltd (a 
subsidiary of SuperBowl Holdings 
Limited)

Contribution by the Group of its 60% proportion of the loan 
extended to: 
–  Goodluck View Development (Value of loan as at 31 

December 09 amounting to $8,114,000) 

Interest income amounting to $23,200

Construction of 2 blocks of 
5-storey residential flats for 
Goodluck View Development, 
Contract Value of $62,113,000 
(Inclusive of GST) (Value of 
transaction amounting to 
$nil.)

The Audit Committee has reviewed, and is satisfied that the transactions are conducted at arm’s length and on terms that are fair and 
reasonable. The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors are satisfied that the terms of the above transactions are not prejudicial to 
the interests of the Company or its minority shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, no director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholders, or associate has any interest in any material 
transaction undertaken by the Hiap Hoe Limited & Group.

Pursuant to Rule 920 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, there was no transaction with interested persons for the financial year under 
review that warrants a shareholders mandate.

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts with the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any CEO, Director or controlling shareholder 
subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2009.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Hiap Hoe 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet, profit and loss account, statement 
of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

Directors

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Teo Guan Seng, BBM

Teo Ho Beng
Teo Ho Kang, Roland
Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy
Chan Wah Tiong
Dr. Wang Kai Yuen
Chan Boon Hui

Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the 
Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of Directors’ shareholdings required 
to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in the shares of the Company and related corporations 
(other than wholly-owned subsidiaries), as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of Director

At the 
beginning of 
financial year

At the 
end of 

financial year
At 21 

January 2010

At the 
beginning of 
financial year

At the 
end of 

financial year
At 21 

January 2010

The Company
Hiap Hoe Limited
(Ordinary shares)

Teo Guan Seng, BBM – – – 262,955,101 262,955,101 262,955,101
Teo Ho Beng 1,014,000 1,595,000 1,595,000 262,955,101 262,955,101 262,955,101
Teo Ho Kang, Roland 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 262,955,101 262,955,101 262,955,101
Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy 350,000 350,000 350,000 – – –
Chan Wah Tiong 75,000 75,000 75,000 – – –
Chan Boon Hui 75,000 75,000 75,000 – – –
Dr. Wang Kai Yuen 60,000 60,000 60,000 – – –
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Directors’ interests in shares, warrants and debentures (cont’d)

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of Director

At the 
beginning of 
financial year

At the 
end of 

financial year
At 21 

January 2010

At the 
beginning of 
financial year

At the 
end of 

financial year
At 21 

January 2010

The immediate holding company
Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd
(Ordinary shares)

Teo Guan Seng, BBM 3,772,534 3,772,534 3,772,534 – – –
Teo Ho Beng 3,222,245 3,222,245 3,222,245 – – –
Teo Ho Kang, Roland 2,766,270 2,766,270 2,766,270 – – –

Related company
SuperBowl Holdings Limited
(Ordinary shares)

Teo Guan Seng, BBM – – – 227,009,000 227,009,000 227,009,000
Teo Ho Beng 2,514,000 2,787,000 2,787,000 227,029,000 227,029,000 227,029,000
Teo Ho Kang, Roland 1,000,000# 1,000,000# 1,000,000# 227,009,000 227,009,000 227,009,000
Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy 250,000# 250,000# 220,000# – – –
Dr. Wang Kai Yuen 170,000 170,000 170,000 – – –

# As at 31 December 2009, Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland and Ms Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy had 300,000 (2008: 300,000) and 125,000 
(2008: 125,000) shares respectively held in the name of nominees.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, Mr Teo Guan Seng, Mr Teo Ho Beng and Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland are 
deemed to have interests in shares of all the wholly-owned subsidiary companies of Hiap Hoe Limited, Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd and 
SuperBowl Holdings Limited.

Except as disclosed in this report, no Director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options, warrants 
or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or end of the financial year.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or 
become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director, or with a 
firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, except that certain 
directors received director’s fees from its related company.
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Share option scheme

The Scheme is a share incentive plan that enables the Company to give recognition to the contributions made by full-time employees 
(including Group Executive Directors) and Non-Executive Directors and at the same time, provides them with an opportunity to participate 
in the equity of the Company. This Scheme was approved by the shareholders on 28 April 2004. under the Scheme, the Company may 
grant options to confirmed employees, including Non-Executive Directors who meet the two criteria below, at the absolute discretion of 
the Committee administering the Scheme:

(a) have attained the age of twenty-one years on or before the Date of Grant; and
(b) not be an undischarged bankrupt and must not have entered into a composition with his/her creditors.

Persons who are Controlling Shareholders or their Associates shall, subject to meeting the above eligibility criteria, be eligible to participate 
in the Scheme if:

(i) their participation; and
(ii) the actual number of Shares and terms of any Options to be granted to them

have been approved by independent shareholders of the Company in general meeting in separate resolutions for each such person and, in 
respect of each such person, in separate resolutions for each of (i) his/her participation and (ii) the actual number of Shares and terms of 
any Options to be granted to him/her.

under the option scheme, the Company can grant up to a maximum discount of 20% of the average of the last dealt price per share of 
the Company on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the period of 5 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the 
relevant offer date.

The Committee administering the Scheme comprises the following Directors of the Company:

Chan Boon Hui (Chairman)
Chan Wah Tiong
Dr. Wang Kai Yuen
Teo Ho Beng

The options may be exercised, at any time after the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, but before the tenth anniversary while for 
non-executive Directors, it is before the fifth anniversary.

There was no option granted or lapsed during the year.

The options do not entitle the holder to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue of any other corporation. No options were 
granted at a discount since the commencement of the share option scheme till the end of the financial year and no options were granted 
to Directors and employees of the parent company and its subsidiary companies.
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Share option scheme (cont’d)

No options were granted to Directors and their associates during the financial year.

Except as disclosed above, since the commencement of share option scheme till the end of the financial year, there were no options that 
have been granted to controlling shareholders of the Company and their associates and no employees have received 5% or more of the 
total number of options available under the Scheme.

Other Information Required by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Except as disclosed in Notes 12 and 29a of the financial statements, no material contracts of the Company and its subsidiary companies, 
which involve the interests of the chief executive officer, each Director or controlling shareholder, subsisted at the end of the financial 
year, or have been entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Audit Committee

The audit committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, 
including the following:

• Reviews the audit plans of the external auditors of the Company and ensures the adequacy of the Company’s system of accounting 
controls and the assistance given by the Company’s management to the external auditors;

• Reviews the audit plans of the internal auditors of the Group and ensures the adequacy of the Company’s system of accounting 
controls and the assistance given by the Group’s management to the internal auditors;

• Reviews the quarterly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual financial statements of the Company 
before their submission to the Board of Directors;

• Reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and 
risk management;

• Meets with the external auditors, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that 
these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

• Reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related compliance policies and 
programmes and any reports received from regulators;

• Reviews the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;
• Reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;
• Recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated, approves the compensation of the external auditors, 

and reviews the scope and results of the audit;
• Reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board of Directors with such recommendations as the AC considers appropriate; 

and
• Reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 

(SGX-ST)’s Listing Manual.
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Audit Committee (cont’d)

The AC convened 4 meetings during the year. The AC has also met with external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s 
management, at least once a year. The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied 
that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC has also conducted a review 
of interested person transactions.

Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Teo Ho Beng
Director

Teo Ho Kang, Roland
Director

Singapore
15 March 2010
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Statement by Directors

We, Teo Ho Beng and Teo Ho Kang, Roland, being two of the Directors of Hiap Hoe Limited, do hereby state that, in the opinion of 
the Directors,

(i) the accompanying balance sheets, profit and loss accounts, statement of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and consolidated cash flow statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 and the results of the business and changes in equity of the 
Group and the Company, and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Teo Ho Beng
Director

Teo Ho Kang, Roland
Director

Singapore
15 March 2010
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the members of Hiap Hoe Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hiap Hoe Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the 
“Group”), set out on pages 36 to 99, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and Company as at 31 December 2009, and the profit 
and loss accounts, statement of comprehensive income and the statements of changes in equity of the Group and Company, and the cash 
flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorised use or disposition, and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet, profit and loss accounts, statement of comprehensive 
income and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company 
as at 31 December 2009 and the results and changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the cash flows of the Group for 
the year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary companies incorporated 
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
15 March 2010
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Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2009 

Note Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 6,276,651 3,741,300 – 18,637
Investment properties 4 5,410,000 7,192,000 – –
Investments in subsidiary companies 5 – – 48,682,553 48,682,553
Investment in associates 6 5 5 – –
Investment in joint ventures 7 – – – –
Staff loan 30,000 – 30,000 –

11,716,656 10,933,305 48,712,553 48,701,190

Current Assets
Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits 3,520,606 9,873,305 63,236 3,466,361
Other investments 8 233,685 93,395 – –
Trade and other receivables 9 855,104 150,390 11,246 1,426
Deposits 65,932 38,401 450 2,701
Prepaid operating expenses 141,489 60,948 11,182 12,261
Due from ultimate holding company 
 (non-trade) 1,871 – – –
Due from subsidiary companies (trade) 11(i) – – 1,368,762 1,074,406
Due from subsidiary companies 
 (non-trade) 10 – – 75,562,554 72,256,435
Due from related companies (trade) 11(i) 8,133 – – –
Due from related companies (non-trade) 11(i) 23,825 25,383 23,755 5
Due from joint venture (trade) 11(ii) 37,013 80,000 31,578 80,000
Due from joint ventures (non-trade) 11(iii) 48,707,237 47,563,726 43,135,558 42,012,486
Due from an associate (non-trade) 11(iv) 1,733 1,485 1,733 1,485
Development properties 12 536,600,622 465,376,425 – –
Tax recoverable 9,122 135,568 – 125,150

590,206,372 523,399,026 120,210,054 119,032,716
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Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2009 (cont’d)

Note Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 3,367,355 2,042,120 221,236 213,615
Other liabilities 14 12,173,541 3,510,992 261,139 253,312
Derivatives 15 347,595 553,920 294,506 530,567
Due to subsidiary companies (non-trade) 10 – – 67,050,617 64,379,570
Due to related companies (trade) 11(i) 510,001 581,464 – –
Due to a related company (non-trade) 16 13,664,013 12,047,189 – –
Due to an associate (non-trade) 5 5 – –
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 58,758,758 1,064,133 9,996 9,996
Tax payable 775,749 1,120,998 42,426 35,290

89,597,017 20,920,821 67,879,920 65,422,350

Net Current Assets 500,609,355 502,478,205 52,330,134 53,610,366

Non-Current Liabilities
Trade payables 13 200,840 463,146 – –
Other liabilities 14 25,185 – – –
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 326,511,594 367,644,617 9,191 19,187
Deferred taxation 19 10,605,052 3,685,721 – –

337,342,671 371,793,484 9,191 19,187

Net Assets 174,983,340 141,618,026 101,033,496 102,292,369

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 
 HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital 20 84,445,256 84,445,256 84,445,256 84,445,256
Treasury shares 20 (158,557) (158,557) (158,557) (158,557)
Reserves 21 90,479,053 57,073,294 16,746,797 18,005,670

174,765,752 141,359,993 101,033,496 102,292,369
Minority interests 217,588 258,033 – –

Total Equity 174,983,340 141,618,026 101,033,496 102,292,369

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Profit and Loss Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Note Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Revenue 22 110,480,112 29,728,676 851,189 992,343
Cost of sales (66,682,302) (16,537,940) – –

Gross profit 43,797,810 13,190,736 851,189 992,343

Other items of income
Other income 25 1,526,783 1,898,553 – 4,374,140
Financial income 26 279,077 354,835 1,075,736 763,274

Other items of expense
Distribution and selling expenses (1,148,661) (3,559,865) – –
Administrative expenses 23 (2,773,984) (2,801,215) (1,396,518) (1,766,206)
Other expenses 25 (926) (195,861) – –
Financial expenses 26 (57,702) (35,347) (806,479) (419,716)

Share of results of an associate – (4) – (4)
Share of results of joint ventures – (599,861) – (5)

Profit before taxation 41,622,397 8,251,971 (276,072) 3,943,826
Tax (expense)/credit 27 (7,312,996) (73,034) (38,714) 189,481

Net profit for the year 34,309,401 8,178,937 (314,786) 4,133,307

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 34,349,846 8,291,466 (314,786) 4,133,307
Minority interests (40,445) (112,529) – –

Total 34,309,401 8,178,937 (314,786) 4,133,307

Earnings per share attributable to equity 
 holders of the parent (cents per share)
Basic 28 9.08 2.46

Diluted 28 9.08 2.46

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Note Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Profit net of tax 34,309,401 8,178,937 (314,786) 4,133,307
Other comprehensive income – – – –

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
 net of tax 34,309,401 8,178,937 (314,786) 4,133,307

Total comprehensive income for the year 34,309,401 8,178,937 (314,786) 4,133,307

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 34,349,846 8,291,466 (314,786) 4,133,307
Minority interests (40,445) (112,529) – –

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Attributable to equity holders of the parent Total equity 
attributable to 
equity holders 
of the parent

Minority 
interest

Total 
equity

2008
Group

Share 
capital (1) 
(Note 20)

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 20)
Accumulated 

profits
Dividend 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2008 63,453,244 – 56,432,332 3,037,171 (7,671,719) 51,797,784 115,251,028 370,562 115,621,590
Adjustment due to change in accounting policy 
 (Note 2.8) – – 19,918 – – 19,918 19,918 – 19,918

At 1 January 2008, restated 63,453,244 – 56,452,250 3,037,171 (7,671,719) 51,817,702 115,270,946 370,562 115,641,508
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 8,291,466 – – 8,291,466 8,291,466 (112,529) 8,178,937
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 32) – – 1,297 (3,037,171) – (3,035,874) (3,035,874) – (3,035,874)
Transfer from unappropriated profit to dividend reserve – – (945,483) 945,483 – – – – –
Issuance of shares 21,260,196 – – – – – 21,260,196 – 21,260,196
Rights issue expenses (268,184) – – – – – (268,184) – (268,184)
Purchase of treasury shares – (158,557) – – – – (158,557) – (158,557)

At 31 December 2008 84,445,256 (158,557) 63,799,530 945,483 (7,671,719) 57,073,294 141,359,993 258,033 141,618,026

Total equity 
attributable to 
equity holders 
of the parent

Minority 
interest

Total 
equity

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

2009
Group

Share 
capital (1) 
(Note 20)

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 20)
Accumulated 

profits
Dividend 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2009 84,445,256 (158,557) 63,799,530 945,483 (7,671,719) 57,073,294 141,359,993 258,033 141,618,026
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 34,349,846 – – 34,349,846 34,349,846 (40,445) 34,309,401
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 32) – – 1,396 (945,483) – (944,087) (944,087) – (944,087)
Transfer from unappropriated profit to dividend reserve – – (1,181,854) 1,181,854 – – – – –

At 31 December 2009 84,445,256 (158,557) 96,968,918 1,181,854 (7,671,719) 90,479,053 174,765,752 217,588 174,983,340



Hiap Hoe Limited Annual Report 2009

41

Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Attributable to equity holders of the parent Total equity 
attributable to 
equity holders 
of the parent

Minority 
interest

Total 
equity

2008
Group

Share 
capital (1) 
(Note 20)

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 20)
Accumulated 

profits
Dividend 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2008 63,453,244 – 56,432,332 3,037,171 (7,671,719) 51,797,784 115,251,028 370,562 115,621,590
Adjustment due to change in accounting policy 
 (Note 2.8) – – 19,918 – – 19,918 19,918 – 19,918

At 1 January 2008, restated 63,453,244 – 56,452,250 3,037,171 (7,671,719) 51,817,702 115,270,946 370,562 115,641,508
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 8,291,466 – – 8,291,466 8,291,466 (112,529) 8,178,937
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 32) – – 1,297 (3,037,171) – (3,035,874) (3,035,874) – (3,035,874)
Transfer from unappropriated profit to dividend reserve – – (945,483) 945,483 – – – – –
Issuance of shares 21,260,196 – – – – – 21,260,196 – 21,260,196
Rights issue expenses (268,184) – – – – – (268,184) – (268,184)
Purchase of treasury shares – (158,557) – – – – (158,557) – (158,557)

At 31 December 2008 84,445,256 (158,557) 63,799,530 945,483 (7,671,719) 57,073,294 141,359,993 258,033 141,618,026

Total equity 
attributable to 
equity holders 
of the parent

Minority 
interest

Total 
equity

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

2009
Group

Share 
capital (1) 
(Note 20)

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 20)
Accumulated 

profits
Dividend 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2009 84,445,256 (158,557) 63,799,530 945,483 (7,671,719) 57,073,294 141,359,993 258,033 141,618,026
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 34,349,846 – – 34,349,846 34,349,846 (40,445) 34,309,401
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 32) – – 1,396 (945,483) – (944,087) (944,087) – (944,087)
Transfer from unappropriated profit to dividend reserve – – (1,181,854) 1,181,854 – – – – –

At 31 December 2009 84,445,256 (158,557) 96,968,918 1,181,854 (7,671,719) 90,479,053 174,765,752 217,588 174,983,340
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (cont’d)

2008 
Company

Share 
capital (1) 
(Note 20)

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 20)
Accumulated 

profits
Dividend 
reserve

Total 
reserves

Total 
equity

$ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2008 63,453,244 – 13,871,066 3,037,171 16,908,237 80,361,481
Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – 4,133,307 – 4,133,307 4,133,307
Transfer from unappropriated 
 profits to dividend reserve – – (945,483) 945,483 – –
Dividends on ordinary shares 
 (Note 32) – – 1,297 (3,037,171) (3,035,874) (3,035,874)
Issuance of shares 21,260,196 – – – – 21,260,196
Rights issue expenses (268,184) – – – – (268,184)
Purchase of treasury shares – (158,557) – – – (158,557)

At 31 December 2008 84,445,256 (158,557) 17,060,187 945,483 18,005,670 102,292,369

2009
Company

Share 
capital (1) 
(Note 20)

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 20)
Accumulated 

profits
Dividend 
reserve

Total 
reserves

Total 
equity

$ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2009 84,445,256 (158,557) 17,060,187 945,483 18,005,670 102,292,369
Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – (314,786) – (314,786) (314,786)
Transfer from unappropriated 
 profits to dividend reserve – – (1,181,854) 1,181,854 – –
Dividends on ordinary shares 
 (Note 32) – – 1,396 (945,483) (944,087) (944,087)

At 31 December 2009 84,445,256 (158,557) 15,564,943 1,181,854 16,746,797 101,033,496

(1) The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares 
carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Note 2009 2008
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit before taxation 41,622,397 8,251,971
Adjustments:
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 152,702 193,062
 Write-back of allowance for doubtful receivables – trade (1,000) (22,500)
 Bad receivables written back – trade 9 – (104,487)
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 25 186 –
 Loss on property, plant and equipment written off 740 –
 Fair value (gain)/loss on held for trading quoted 
  investments 25 (139,300) 195,861
 Interest expenses 26 57,702 35,347
 Dividend income from quoted investments 25 (4,490) (9,106)
 Interest income 26 (279,077) (354,835)
 Gain on fair value adjustment of investment properties 25 (870,000) (1,441,840)
 Fair value gain on financial instruments – derivatives 25 – (5,550)
 Share of results of an associate – 4
 Share of results of joint ventures – 599,861

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 40,539,860 7,337,788
Changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in:
 Development properties (63,499,178) (323,065,434)
 Trade and other receivables (733,714) 4,585,030
 Deposits (27,531) 29,799,151
 Prepaid operating expenses (80,541) 76,551
 Due from ultimate holding company, non-trade (1,871) –
 Due from a joint venture, trade 42,987 (80,000)
 Due from joint ventures, non-trade (659,258) (389,731)
 Due from an associate, non-trade (248) (1,480)
 Due from related company, trade (8,133) –
 Due from related company, non-trade 1,558 –
Increase/(decrease) in:
 Trade and other payables 1,062,929 1,022,220
 Other liabilities 8,687,734 (1,535,914)
 Derivatives (206,325) 460,129
 Due to related companies, trade (71,463) 355,688
 Due to related company, non-trade – (211,974)

Cash flows used in operations (14,953,194) (281,647,976)
Income tax paid (612,468) (57,094)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (15,565,662) (281,705,070)
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Note 2009 2008
$ $

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – –
Investment in associates – (9)
Investment in joint venture – (5)
Purchase of a quoted investment (990) (296)
Interest income received 6,409 111,035
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note B) (45,647) (19,542)
Dividend income received 25 4,490 9,106
Loan to joint ventures (211,585) (41,673,843)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (247,323) (41,573,554)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of bank term loans (7,921,291) (14,979,460)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 24,437,572 301,667,099
Proceeds from issuance of shares (net of expenses) 20 – 20,992,012
Dividends paid on ordinary shares by the Company 32 (944,087) (3,035,874)
Repayment of hire purchase (9,996) (109,988)
Loans from related company 1,582,000 5,153,924
Interest paid (7,878,916) (6,618,532)
Purchase of treasury shares – (158,557)

Net cash flows from financing activities 9,265,282 302,910,624

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,547,703) (20,368,000)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,866,795 30,234,795

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note A) 3,319,092 9,866,795
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A. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise the following:

2009 2008
$ $

Cash and bank balances 2,486,204 973,305
Fixed deposits 1,034,402 8,900,000
Less: Bank overdrafts (Note 17) (201,514) (6,510)

3,319,092 9,866,795

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

2009 2008
$ $

uS dollar 181,684 200,964

Cash and cash equivalents of the Company denominated in Singapore dollars at 31 December are as follows:

2009 2008
$ $

Cash and bank balances 63,236 66,361
Fixed deposits – 3,400,000

63,236 3,466,361

Cash and bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates at nil% (2008: 0.67%) per annum.

Bank overdrafts are included in the determination of cash and cash equivalents because they form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management. Bank overdrafts are secured by legal mortgages on the Group’s investment properties and freehold properties 
(Note 17). They are repayable on demand and have a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.86% (2008: 4.50%) per annum. 
Interest rates of bank overdrafts reprice at an interval of 1 month.

B. Purchase of property, plant and equipment

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $45,647 (2008: $19,542) in cash.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009

1. Corporate information

Hiap Hoe Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company and is listed on the SGX Mainboard. Its immediate and ultimate 
holding company is Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd. Both companies are domiciled and incorporated in Singapore.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 564A Balestier Road, Singapore 329880.

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding and provision for management services. The principal 
activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Related companies in these financial statements refer to the group of companies under Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet, profit and loss account and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $) unless otherwise stated.

2.2 Changes and future changes in accounting policies

a) Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

On 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the following standards and interpretations mandatory for annual financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

• FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
• Amendments to FRS 18 Revenue
• Amendments to FRS 23 Borrowing Costs
• Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – 

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising from Liquidation
• Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
• Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
• Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
• FRS 108 Operating Segments
• Improvements to FRSs issued in 2008
• INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes
• INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
• Amendments to INT FRS 109 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement – Embedded Derivatives
• INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers
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31 December 2009 (cont’d)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 Changes and future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

a) Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position 
of the Group. They did however give rise to additional disclosures, including, in some cases, revisions to accounting 
policies.

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation

The revised FRS 1 separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes 
only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of other 
comprehensive income. In addition, the Standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income which presents 
income and expense recognised in the period. This statement may be presented in one single statement, or two-linked 
statements. The Group has elected to present this statement as two linked statements.

Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amendments to FRS 107 require additional disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair 
value measurements are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level hierarchy for each class of financial 
instrument. In addition, reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for Level 3 fair value measurements 
is now required, as well as significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements. The amendments 
also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures. The liquidity risk disclosures and fair value measurement 
disclosures are presented in Note 33 and Note 34 to the financial statements respectively.

FRS 108 Operating Segments

FRS 108 requires disclosure of information about the Group’s operating segments and replaces the requirement 
to determine primary and secondary reporting segments of the Group. The Group determined that the reportable 
operating segments are the same as the business segments previously identified under FRS 14 Segment Reporting. 
Additional disclosures about each of the segments are shown in Note 36, including revised comparative 
information.

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2008

In 2008, the Accounting Standards Council issued an omnibus of amendments to FRS. There are separate transitional 
provisions for each amendment. The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting 
policies but did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group:

• FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance with 
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classified as current in 
the balance sheet. The Group amended its accounting policy accordingly and analysed whether Management’s 
expectation of the period of realisation of financial assets and liabilities differed from the classification of 
the instrument. This did not result in any re-classification of financial instruments between current and 
non-current in the balance sheet.

• FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to sell”. 
The Group amended its accounting policy accordingly, which did not result in any change in the financial 
position.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 Changes and future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

a) Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

• FRS 23 Borrowing Costs: The definition of borrowing costs is revised to consolidate the two types of items 
that are considered components of “borrowing costs” into one – the interest expense calculated using the 
effective interest rate method calculated in accordance with FRS 39. The Group has amended its accounting 
policy accordingly which did not result in any change in its financial position.

b) Future changes in accounting policies

The Group has not adopted the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but not yet effective:

Reference Description

Effective date
(Annual periods

beginning on
or after)

Amendments to FRS 27 : Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

1 July 2009

Amendments to FRS 39 : Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement – Eligible Hedged Item

1 July 2009

Revised FRS 103 : Business Combinations 1 July 2009
Amendments to FRS 105 : Non-current Assets Held For Sale and

Discontinued Operations
1 July 2009

INT FRS 117 : Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

1 July 2009

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2009:

Amendments to FRS 38 : Intangible Assets 1 July 2009
Amendments to FRS 102 : Share-based Payment 1 July 2009
Amendments to FRS 108 : Operating Segments 1 July 2009
Amendments to INT FRS 109 : Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 1 July 2009
Amendments to INT FRS 116 : Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 

Operation
1 July 2009

Amendments to FRS 1 : Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2010
Amendments to FRS 7 : Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2010
Amendments to FRS 17 : Leases 1 January 2010
Amendments to FRS 36 : Impairment of Assets 1 January 2010
FRS 39 : Financial Instruments – Recognition and

Measurement
1 January 2010

Amendments to FRS 105 : Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations

1 January 2010

Amendments to FRS 108 : Operating Segments 1 January 2010
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31 December 2009 (cont’d)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 Changes and future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

b) Future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

Except for the revised FRS 103 and the amendments to FRS 27, the directors expect that the adoption of the other 
standards and interpretations above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial 
application. The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of the revised FRS 103 and the 
amendments to FRS 27 are described below.

Revised FRS 103 Business Combinations and Amendments to FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements

The revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised FRS 103 
introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after 1 July 2009. These 
changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition 
occurs, and future reported results. The Amendments to FRS 27 require that a change in the ownership interest of 
a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such transactions will no 
longer give rise to goodwill, nor will they rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the 
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential 
amendments were made to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, FRS 12 Income Taxes, FRS 21 The Effects of Changes 
in Foreign Exchange Rates, FRS 28 Investments in Associates and FRS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes 
from revised FRS 103 and Amendments to FRS 27 will affect future acquisitions or loss of control and transactions 
with minority interests. The standards may be early applied. However, the Group does not intend to early adopt.

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at 
the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require 
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets or liability affected in the future.

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

i) Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers 
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or 
significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated 
based on the historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying 
amount of the Group’s loans and receivable at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 9 to the financial 
statements.
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31 December 2009 (cont’d)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

ii) Impairment of investment properties and development properties

The Group determines whether there are any indicators of impairment for investment properties and 
development properties at each reporting date. The impairment is based on valuation prepared by independent 
professional valuer. The carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties and development properties 
at 31 December 2009 is disclosed in Note 4 and 12 to the financial statements.

b) Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

The following is the judgement (apart from those involving estimations) made by management in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

i) Revenue recognition

The Group estimated the percentage of completion of its development properties by reference to professional 
surveys of work performed. When the final cost incurred by the Group is different from the amounts that 
were initially budgeted, such differences will impact the revenue recognised in the period in which such 
determination is made. The Group’s revenue recognised of development properties for the year ended 31 
December 2009 was $110,350,174 (2008: $28,365,567).

ii) Income taxes

The Company has adopted Group relief since Year of Assessment 2003. Significant judgement is involved in 
determining the Group provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises 
liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final 
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables and deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2009 was $775,749 
(2008: $1,120,998) and $10,605,052 (2008: $3,685,721) respectively.

2.4 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded on initial recognition at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the 
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the balance sheet 
date are recognised in the profit and loss account.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5 Basis of consolidation and subsidiary companies

a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies 
as at the balance sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiary companies used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the holding company. Consistent 
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full.

Acquisitions of subsidiary companies are accounted for using the purchase method. Subsidiary companies are 
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

b) Subsidiary companies

A subsidiary company is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are accounted for at cost less 
any impairment losses.

2.6 Transactions with minority interests

Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiary not held by the Group and are 
represented separately in the consolidated profit and loss account and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, 
separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Transactions with minority interests are accounted for using the entity concept 
method, whereby, transactions with minority interests are accounted for as transactions with equity holders.

2.7 Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant influence. The 
associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the Group ceases to 
have significant influence over the associate.

The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. under the equity method, the investment 
in associate is measured in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 
associate.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment 
loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at each balance sheet date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If it is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the 
amount in the profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8 Joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to 
joint control, where the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. The Group recognises its interest in joint venture using the equity method with effect from 
1 January 2008. In 2007, the Group recognised its interest in joint venture using proportionate consolidation. The change 
in accounting policy is applied retrospectively and the financial statements have been restated to reflect the change. under 
the equity method, the investment in joint venture is measured in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in 
the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds 
its interest in the joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the joint venture.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment 
loss on the Group’s investment in its joint ventures. The Group determines at each balance sheet date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If it is the case, the Group calculates the amount 
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value and recognises 
the amount in the profit or loss.

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies into line with those of the Group.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available 
for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

• Freehold properties – 50 years
• Motor vehicles – 5 to 10 years
• Furniture, fittings and office equipment – 1 to 20 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the amount, 
method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset is included in the profit and loss account 
in the year the asset is derecognised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both. Investment 
properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part 
of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs 
of day-to-day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at 
fair value and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the profit and 
loss in the year in which they arise. The fair value is determined annually by the Directors and supported by limited-scope 
independent professional valuations, based on their existing use. A full-scope independent professional valuation is made 
at least once every 3 years.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the profit and loss account in the year of retirement or 
disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment 
property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change 
in use.

2.11 Other investments

Quoted investments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The accounting policies for the aforementioned categories of financial assets are stated in Note 2.21.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also 
include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables, including amounts due from subsidiary companies, related companies, joint ventures, associate 
and ultimate holding company are classified and accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39. The accounting policy 
for this category of financial assets is stated in Note 2.21.

An allowance is made for uncollectible amounts when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
the debt. Bad debts are written off when identified. Further details on the accounting policy for impairment of financial 
assets are stated in Note 2.22.

2.14 Development properties

Development properties are properties held and developed for sale in the ordinary course of business. Development 
properties are measured at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Cost includes cost of land, development 
expenditure and cost of borrowings directly attributable to the development of the properties. Provision is made for 
foreseeable losses in arriving at estimated net realisable value, if any. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less costs to be incurred in selling the property.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.15 Construction contracts

Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated 
reliably. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable and contract costs are recognised as expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. An expected loss on the construction contract is recognised as an expense immediately when it 
is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

Contract revenue comprised the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they are capable of being reliably 
measured.

Revenue arising from fixed price contracts is recognised in accordance with the percentage of completion method. The 
stage of completion is measured by reference to professional surveys of work performed.

2.16 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than derivatives, directly 
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value. Other financial liabilities (except for financial 
guarantee) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

For financial liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account when the 
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of 
derivatives are recognised in the profit and loss account.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.

2.18 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.19 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of development properties if they are directly attributable to the acquisition 
and construction of development properties. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing 
costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during the extended periods in which active development is interrupted. 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases on issue of the Temporary Occupation Permit. The capitalisation rate is determined 
by reference to the actual rate payable on borrowings for development property, weighted as applicable.

2.20 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Singapore companies make contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined 
contribution pension scheme. Contributions to the national pension scheme are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related service is performed.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. The estimated liability for 
leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(c) Employee share option plans

Employees of the Group may receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services 
rendered. The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the 
date on which the share options are granted. In valuing the share options, no account is taken of any performance 
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (‘market conditions’), if 
applicable.

The cost is recognised in the profit and loss accounts, with a corresponding increase in the employee share option 
reserve, over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of options 
that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, 
provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. The employee share option reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings upon expiry of the share options. When the options are exercised, the employee share option 
reserve is transferred to share capital if new shares are issued.

In situations where equity instruments are issued and some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as 
consideration cannot be specifically identified, the unidentified goods or services received (or to be received) are 
measured as the difference between the fair value of the share-based payment and the fair value of any identified 
goods or services received at the grant date. This is then capitalised or expensed as appropriate.
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2.21 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in the 
profit and loss account.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. the date that 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace 
concerned.

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets held for trading are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets 
held for trading are derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the near term.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any 
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in the profit and loss accounts. 
Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include exchange differences, interest 
and dividend income.

b) Loans and receivables

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans 
and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss account when the loans and receivables 
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

The Group has not classified any financial assets as held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets.

2.22 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.
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2.22 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised 
in the profit and loss account.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly or if an amount 
was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against the carrying 
value of the financial asset.

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the Group 
considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or 
significant delay in payments.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset 
does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

The Group does not have any financial assets carried at cost and available-for-sale financial assets.

2.23 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be 
generated by the asset are discounted to their present value. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation 
was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income 
up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. Reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account unless the asset is carried at 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal in excess of impairment loss previously recognised through the profit and loss 
account is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
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2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

a) Project revenue arising from construction contracts

Revenue from contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method based on the progress of the contract 
work, as determined based on surveys/certifications of work done. Accounting policy for recognising construction 
contracts is stated in Note 2.15.

b) Sales of development properties

Revenue from sales of development properties is recognised on units sold using the percentage of completion 
method based on surveys/certifications of work done.

c) Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

d) Rental income

Rental income arising from investment and development properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms on ongoing leases.

e) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.25 Income taxes

a) Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Current tax are recognised in the profit and loss account except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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2.25 Income taxes (cont’d)

b) Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

– where the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss;

– in respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary companies, associates and 
interests in joint venture, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by 
the Group and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized 
except:

– where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

– in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary companies, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income 
tax asset to be utilised. unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognised outside profit and loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.25 Income taxes (cont’d)

c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

• Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 
in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 
item as applicable; and

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

2.26 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services which are 
independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective segments 
under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly review the 
segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures 
on each of these segments are shown in Note 36, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the 
measurement basis of segment information.

2.27 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 
date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset. For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 
January 2005 in accordance with the transitional requirements of INT FRS 104.

a) As lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the profit and loss 
account. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term, 
if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2.27 Leases

b) As lessor

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are classified as 
operating leases.

2.28 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (being interest rate swaps) to hedge its risks associated with interest rate 
fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments are carried as assets 
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivative financial instruments are capitalised as development 
properties in the balance sheet for the year.

2.29 Share capital and share issue expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.30 Treasury shares

When shares recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognised directly in equity. Reacquired 
shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the 
income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares.

2.31 Financial guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for 
a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due.

No financial guarantee is recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.

2.32 Contingencies

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the 
Group.

Contingent liability is recognised on the balance sheet of the Group under other liabilities.
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3. Property, plant and equipment

Group
Freehold

land
Freehold

properties
Motor

vehicles

Furniture,
fittings

and office
equipment Total

$ $ $ $ $

Cost
At 1 January 2008 1,880,807 2,320,609 719,157 333,363 5,253,936
Additions – – – 19,542 19,542
Disposals – – – (1,557) (1,557)

At 31 December 2008 and
 1 January 2009 1,880,807 2,320,609 719,157 351,348 5,271,921
Transfer from investment properties
 (Note 4) 612,068 2,639,415 – – 3,251,483
Additions – – – 45,647 45,647
Disposals – – – (3,867) (3,867)

At 31 December 2009 2,492,875 4,960,024 719,157 393,128 8,565,184

Accumulated depreciation and
 impairment losses
At 1 January 2008 – 727,076 355,968 247,986 1,331,030
Charge for the year – 84,057 82,133 34,958 201,148
Disposals – – – (1,557) (1,557)

At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 
 2009 – 811,133 438,101 281,387 1,530,621
Impairment transferred from
 investment properties (Note 4) – 599,483 – – 599,483
Charge for the year – 84,057 50,834 26,479 161,370
Disposals – – – (2,941) (2,941)

At 31 December 2009 – 1,494,673 488,935 304,925 2,288,533

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2009 2,492,875 3,465,351 230,222 88,203 6,276,651

At 31 December 2008 1,880,807 1,509,476 281,056 69,961 3,741,300

The Group charged the depreciation expense of $152,702 (2008: $193,062) to the Profit and Loss Account while the remaining 
amount of $8,668 (2008: $8,086) was reflected in the Balance Sheet as development properties.
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Company
Motor

vehicles

Furniture,
fittings

and office
equipment Total

$ $ $

Cost
At 1 January 2008 320,388 22,265 342,653
Additions – 1,658 1,658
Disposals – (1,557) (1,557)

At 31 December 2008 320,388 22,366 342,754
Additions – – –
Disposals – (2,000) (2,000)

At 31 December 2009 320,388 20,366 340,754

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 253,198 21,995 275,193
Charge during the year 49,244 1,237 50,481
Disposals – (1,557) (1,557)

At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 302,442 21,675 324,117
Charge during the year 17,946 691 18,637
Disposals – (2,000) (2,000)

At 31 December 2009 320,388 20,366 340,754

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2009 – – –

At 31 December 2008 17,946 691 18,637

Assets held under finance leases
Included in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are the following:

2009 2008
$ $

Net book value of assets acquired under finance leases
 – motor vehicles – 17,946

Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 18).

Assets pledged as security
In addition to assets held under finance leases, the Group’s freehold land and properties with a net carrying amount of $5,958,226 
(2008: $3,390,283) have been mortgaged to secure bank overdraft and loan facilities granted to a subsidiary company (Note 17).
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4. Investment properties

Group
2009 2008

$ $

At valuation:
At 1 January 7,192,000 5,750,160
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (2,652,000) –
Gain on fair value adjustment
 recognised in the profit and loss account 870,000 1,441,840

Balance at 31 December 5,410,000 7,192,000

As disclosed in Note 25, property rental income earned by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 from its investment 
properties, all of which are leased out under operating leases, amounted to $385,399 (2008: $383,381). Direct operating expenses 
(including repairs and maintenance) arising from the rental-earning investment properties amounted to $94,675 (2008: $89,526).

Valuation of investment properties
The fair value is determined annually by Directors and supported by the indicative valuations provided by independent professional 
valuers, with recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. The formal valuations will be carried out 
at end of March 2010. Based on the market conditions, management does not expect the fair values of the investment properties 
to be different from the indicative valuations provided by the independent professional valuers as at 31 December 2009.

Properties pledged as security
All the investment properties are mortgaged to banks to secure credit facilities for the Group (Note 17).

During the year, an investment property of $2,652,000 was transferred to property, plant and equipment.

5. Investments in subsidiary companies

Company
2009 2008

$ $

unquoted equity shares, at cost 119,599,663 119,599,663
Impairment losses (70,917,110) (70,917,110)

Carrying amount of investments 48,682,553 48,682,553

Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows:

Name

Principal activities
(Country of incorporation

and place of business)
Proportion of

ownership interest Cost of investment
2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $ $

Held by the Company

Bukit Panjang Plaza
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 * *

Guan Hoe Development
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 * *
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5. Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)

Name

Principal activities
(Country of incorporation

and place of business)
Proportion of

ownership interest Cost of investment
2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $ $

Held by the Company

Keng Hoe Development 
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 * *

Siong Hoe Development 
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 * *

33,334,551 33,334,551

Wah Hoe Development 
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 1,000,000 1,000,000

Leong Hoe Development
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 1,000,000 1,000,000

Cavenagh Properties
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 1,000,000 1,000,000

Westbuild Construction
 Pte Ltd (1)

Civil engineering, general
 road construction and
 sub-contractor works
 (Singapore)

100 100 80,917,110 80,917,110

Oxford Development
 Pte. Ltd. (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 998,001 998,001

Leng Hoe Development
 Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

100 100 750,001 750,001

Hiap Hoe SuperBowl
 JV Pte Ltd (1)

Property developer and
 owner (Singapore)

60 60 600,000 600,000

119,599,663 119,599,663

(1) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.
* Acquired for an aggregate consideration of $33,334,551.
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6. Investment in associates

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Shares, at cost 9 9 4 4
Share of post-acquisition reserves (4) (4) (4) (4)

5 5 – –

Name

Principal activities
(Country of incorporation

and place of business)

Proportion of
ownership interest Cost of investment

2009 2008 2009 2008
% % $ $

Held by the Company

Cantonment
 Development
 Pte. Ltd. (1)

Property investment 
 and development
 (Singapore)

40% 40% 4 4

Held by joint venture

HHA Properties
 Pte Ltd (1)

Investment holding
 and property developer
 (Singapore)

25% 25% 5 5

(1) No audit has been performed for this company as it is exempted from audit because it has been dormant from the time of 
incorporation.

On 28 July 2008, the Company incorporated an associated company, Cantonment Development Pte. Ltd. (“CDPL”) with SuperBowl 
Holdings Limited being the majority 60% shareholder. The Company held 40% interest in CDPL with a cost of investment of 
$4.

On 22 May 2008, the Company’s joint venture, HH Properties Pte. Ltd., acquired 50% interest in HHA Properties Pte. Ltd. (“HHA”) 
for $10. The Group’s effective interest in HHA is 25%. HHA is an investment holding company and a property developer.

The Group has not recognised losses relating to Cantonment Development Pte. Ltd. where its share of losses exceeds the Group’s 
interest in this associate. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the balance sheet date was $6,814 (2008: $6,306), 
of which $508 (2008: $6,306) was the share of the current year’s losses.

The summarised financial information of the associates, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest held by the Group, 
is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Assets and liabilities:
Total assets 150 803

Total liabilities (17,186) (16,568)

Results:
Loss for the year (1,271) (15,775)
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7. Investment in joint ventures

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Shares, at cost 600,005 600,005
Share of post-acquisition reserves (600,005) (600,005)

– –

On 22 May 2008, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary, HH Properties Pte. Ltd. (“HHP”), by subscribing for 
10 ordinary shares at $10. On 13 June 2008, the Company disposed its 50% stake in HHP to SuperBowl Holdings Limited for a 
consideration of $5 to form a joint venture. The Company’s remaining 50% equity interest in HHP has been accounted for as an 
investment in a joint venture. HHP is in the business of property development and investment holding.

The Group has not recognised losses relating to HH Properties Pte. Ltd. where its share of losses exceeds the Group’s interest in 
the joint venture. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the balance sheet date was $33,823 (2008: $21,679), of 
which $12,144 (2008: $21,679) was the remaining share of the current year’s losses.

The Group also has a 60% (2008: 60%) equity interest in a jointly-controlled entity, Goodluck View Development (“GLV”), that 
is held through a subsidiary. This joint venture is unincorporated and is in the business of property developer and owner. The 
Group’s joint venture partner in GLV is SuperBowl Management Pte Ltd, a related party.

The Group has not recognised losses relating to Goodluck View Development where its share of losses exceeds the Group’s 
interest in the joint venture. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the balance sheet date was $1,352,090 (2008: 
$407,516), of which $944,574 (2008: $407,516) was the remaining share of the current year’s losses.

The summarised financial information of the joint ventures, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest held by the 
Group, is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Assets and liabilities:
Current assets 148,881,348 82,104,455
Non-current assets 10 75,910,045

Total assets 148,881,358 158,014,500

Current liabilities (96,982,474) (92,797,277)
Non-current liabilities (54,220,014) (65,939,776)

Total liabilities (151,202,488) (158,737,053)

Income and expenses:
Income 30,847 950
Expenses (1,629,425) (1,679,903)

Loss for the year (1,598,578) (1,678,953)
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8. Other investments

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Held for trading investments
Quoted investments, at market value 233,685 93,395

9. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables 909,787 188,297 – –
Other receivables 34,376 62,652 19,568 18,748
Staff loans 9,000 – 9,000 –
Less: allowance for doubtful receivables
 – trade (80,737) (83,237) – –
 – non-trade (17,322) (17,322) (17,322) (17,322)

Total trade and other receivables 855,104 150,390 11,246 1,426
Add:
Due from ultimate holding company (non-trade) 1,871 – – –
Due from subsidiary companies (trade) (Note 11(i)) – – 1,368,762 1,074,406
Due from subsidiary companies (non-trade) (Note 10) – – 75,562,554 72,256,435
Due from related companies (trade) (Note 11(i)) 8,133 – – –
Due from related companies (non-trade) (Note 11(i)) 23,825 25,383 23,755 5
Due from joint ventures (non-trade) (Note 11(iii)) 48,707,237 47,563,726 43,135,558 42,012,486
Due from joint venture (trade) (Note 11(ii)) 37,013 80,000 31,578 80,000
Due from an associate (non-trade) (Note 11(iv)) 1,733 1,485 1,733 1,485
Deposits 65,932 38,401 450 2,701
Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits 3,520,606 9,873,305 63,236 3,466,361

Total loans and receivables 53,221,454 57,732,690 120,198,872 118,895,305

Bad receivables written off (Note 23)
 – trade – 513 – –

Bad receivables written back (Note 23)
 – trade – (105,000) – –

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts 
which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to $829,050 (2008: $32,900) that are past due at the balance sheet date but not impaired. 
These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Trade receivables past due:
 Less than 30 days 829,050 32,900
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9. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

Receivables that are impaired

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance accounts used to 
record the impairment are as follows:

Group
Individually

impaired
2009 2008

$ $

Trade receivables-nominal amounts 80,737 83,237
Less: Allowance for impairment (80,737) (83,237)

– –

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January 83,237 105,737
 Written back (1,000) (22,500)
 Written off (1,500) –

At 31 December 80,737 83,237

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors that are in significant 
financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

Subsequent to a debt recovery assessment performed on trade receivables as at 31 December 2009, an impairment loss allowance 
of $1,000 (2008: $22,500) was written back in the profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2009.

10. Due from/(to) subsidiary companies (non-trade)

The amounts due from subsidiary companies are as follows:

Company
2009 2008

$ $

Loans 74,030,100 70,674,920
Interest receivable 945,546 1,075,647
Others 586,908 505,868

75,562,554 72,256,435

The amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured, repayable on demand and in cash. The loans bear interest at 0.06 % 
to 0.39% (2008: 0.4% to 1.27%) per annum.

During the year, a write back of impairment loss of $5,000 (2008: $nil) was made on the loans to subsidiary company. In year 2008, 
an impairment loss provision of $272,115 was made on the loans to subsidiary company.
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10. Due from/(to) subsidiary companies (non-trade) (cont’d)

The amounts due to subsidiary companies are as follows:

Company
2009 2008

$ $

Loans (65,748,226) (63,892,624)
Interest payable (1,266,677) (433,826)
Others (35,714) (53,120)

(67,050,617) (64,379,570)

The amounts due to subsidiary companies are unsecured, repayable on demand and in cash, and bear interest at 0.06% to 0.39% 
(2008: 0.4% to 1.27%) per annum.

11. Due from/(to) subsidiary companies/related companies/joint ventures/associates

(i) Due from subsidiary companies (trade), due from related companies (non-trade/trade), due to related companies 
(trade)

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and in cash.

(ii) Due from joint ventures (trade)

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and in cash.

(iii) Due from joint ventures (non-trade)

The amounts due from joint ventures are as follows:

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Loans 47,108,584 46,896,999 41,964,424 41,752,839
Interest receivable 1,178,314 276,996 1,091,221 203,484
Others 420,339 389,731 79,913 56,163

48,707,237 47,563,726 43,135,558 42,012,486

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, repayable on demand and in cash. The loans bear interest at 2.27% to 
2.33% (2008: 0.4% to 2.40%) per annum.

(iv) Due from an associate (non-trade)

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and in cash.
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12. Development properties

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Freehold land and related costs 436,430,666 451,845,606
Development costs 7,350,331 15,789,016
Property tax and interest 21,829,651 13,668,444
Attributable profit 124,041,294 59,149,320

589,651,942 540,452,386
Less: Progress billings (53,051,320) (75,075,961)

536,600,622 465,376,425

(i) Interest costs capitalised during the year at an average rate of 2.05% (2008: 2.22%) per annum based on actual borrowing 
costs were paid to:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

– financial institutions 7,681,528 7,474,276
– related companies 34,823 71,391

7,716,351 7,545,667

(ii) The development properties are pledged for bank borrowings (Note 17).

(iii) Included in development costs are project and construction management services of $683,139 (2008: $843,404) charged by 
a related company, at contractual terms agreed between the parties.

(iv) As disclosed in Note 25, property rental income earned by the Group from its development properties amounted to 
$1,548 in year 2008. There is no direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising on the rental-earning 
development properties.

(v) Should the Group adopt completion of construction method for pre-completion contracts, the effects on the Group’s 
financial statements are as follows:

– Decrease in opening balance of retained earnings by approximately $26,679,000 (2008: $15,206,000);
– Decrease in revenue by approximately $109,577,000 (2008: decrease by $23,340,000);
– Decrease in profit and loss for the year by approximately $44,473,000 (2008: decrease by $11,474,000);
– Increase in development properties at beginning of the year by approximately $26,129,000 (2008: $14,263,000); 

and
– Increase in development properties at end of the year by approximately $91,232,000 (2008: increase by 

$26,129,000).
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13. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Trade and other payables (current):
Trade payables 3,044,834 1,696,458 – –
Sundry payables 322,521 345,662 221,236 213,615

3,367,355 2,042,120 221,236 213,615
Due to subsidiary companies (non-trade) (Note 10) – – 67,050,617 64,379,570
Due to related companies (trade) (Note 11(i)) 510,001 581,464 – –
Due to a related company (non-trade) (Note 16) 13,664,013 12,047,189 – –
Due to an associate (non-trade) 5 5 – –

17,541,374 14,670,778 67,271,853 64,593,185
Trade payables (non-current)
Trade payables-retention sum 200,840 463,146 – –

17,742,214 15,133,924 67,271,853 64,593,185
Add:
Accrued operating expenses (Note 14) 10,680,891 2,405,299 261,139 253,312
Deposits received (Note 14) 486,856 74,617 – –
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 17) 385,270,352 368,708,750 19,187 29,183

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 414,180,313 386,322,590 67,552,179 64,875,680

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 1 to 3 months.

14. Other liabilities

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Accrued operating expenses 10,680,891 2,405,299 261,139 253,312
Deposits received 486,856 74,617 – –
Rentals received in advance 1,070 1,167 – –
Provision for contingency 1,029,909 1,029,909 – –

12,198,726 3,510,992 261,139 253,312

Provision for contingency
The provision for contingency is a possible outflow of economic resources which may arise from a past contractual obligation.
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15. Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments included in the balance sheets at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2009 2008

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$ $ $ $

Interest rate swaps – 347,595 – 553,920

Company
2009 2008

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$ $ $ $

Interest rate swaps – 294,506 – 530,567

i) The Company has the following interest rate swap agreements (entered into during 2007) for which the Company does not 
apply hedge accounting:

a) In 2007, the Company entered into a SGD callable swap agreement with Bank of America (“BOA”) with a notional 
amount of $10,000,000 whereby it pays a fixed rate of 2.81% per annum and receives a variable rate equal to 6 
months SGD Swap Offer Rate (“SOR”) on the notional amount. The swap is being used to partly hedge against 
the interest rate exposure on the land loan for the Lewis Court development project (Note 17.3b). The secured 
land loan and interest rate swap have the same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a 
notional amount of $10,000,000 whereas the land loan is for an amount of $16,500,000 (2008: $19,200,000). The 
fair value of the swap agreement as at 31 December 2009 amounted to $101,577 (2008: $211,008) payable.

b) In 2007, the Company entered into a SGD structured interest rate swap agreement with uOB with a notional amount 
of $10,000,000 whereby it pays a fixed rate of 2.86% per annum if the 3 months SGD SOR is less than or equal 
to 3.25%. The Company paid a rate equal to 3 months SGD minus 0.39% if the 3 months SGD SOR is more than 
3.25% on the notional amount. The swap is being used to hedge against the interest rate exposure on the term loan 
for acquisition of “Le Chateau” development project (Note 17.1a). The term loan and interest rate swap have the 
same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a notional amount of $10,000,000 whereas 
the term loan is for an amount of $nil (2008: $111,115,694) which was utilised. During the year, the interest rate 
swap agreement was expired. The fair value of the interest rate swap as at 31 December 2008 amounted to $58,518 
payable.

c) In 2007, the Company entered into a second SGD structured interest rate swap agreement with uOB with a notional 
amount of $10,000,000 whereby it pays a fixed rate of 2.71% per annum and receives a variable rate equal to 3 
months SGD SOR on the notional amount. The swap is being used to hedge against the interest rate exposure on the 
term loan for acquisition of “Le Chateau” development project (Note 17.1a). The term loan and interest rate swap 
have the same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a notional amount of $10,000,000 
whereas the term loan is for an amount of $111,999,205 (2008: $111,115,694) which was utilised. The fair value of 
the interest rate swap as at 31 December 2009 amounted to $134,995 (2008: $193,969) payable.
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15. Derivatives (cont’d)

ii) The Company has the following interest rate swap agreements (entered into during 2008) for which the Company does not 
apply hedge accounting:

a) In 2008, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with uOB with a notional amount of $10,000,000 
whereby it pays a fixed rate of 1.79% per annum and receives a 3 months SGD SOR fixed by Association of Banks 
on the notional amount. The swap is being used to hedge against the interest rate exposure on the term loan for 
acquisition of “Clemenceau Court” development project (Note 17.1a). The term loan and interest rate swap have the 
same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a notional amount of $10,000,000 whereas the 
term loan is for an amount of $111,999,205 (2008: $111,115,694) which was utilised. The fair value of the interest 
rate swap as at 31 December 2009 amounted to $31,740 (2008: $30,834) payable.

b) In 2008, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with uOB with a notional amount of $10,000,000 
whereby it pays a fixed rate of 1.695% per annum and receives a 3 months SGD SOR fixed by Association of Banks 
on the notional amount. The swap is being used to hedge against the interest rate exposure on the term loan for 
acquisition of “Clemenceau Court” development project (Note 17.1a). The term loan and interest rate swap have the 
same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a notional amount of $10,000,000 whereas the 
term loan is for an amount of $111,999,205 (2008: $111,115,694) which was utilised. The fair value of the interest 
rate swap as at 31 December 2009 amounted to $26,194 (2008: $36,238) payable.

c) In 2008, the subsidiary company, Hiap Hoe SuperBowl JV Pte. Ltd., entered into an interest rate swap agreement 
with uOB with a notional amount of $10,000,000 whereby it pays a fixed rate of 1.64% per annum and receives a 3 
months SGD SOR fixed by Association of Banks on the notional amount. The swap is being used to hedge against 
the interest rate exposure on the land loan for acquisition of “The Aspine” development project (Note 17.3e). The 
land loan and interest rate swap have the same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a 
notional amount of $10,000,000 whereas the land loan is for an amount of $113,707,000 (2008: $113,707,000). The 
fair value of the interest rate swap as at 31 December 2009 amounted to $27,540 (2008: $16,608) payable.

d) In 2008, the subsidiary company, Hiap Hoe SuperBowl JV Pte. Ltd., entered into an interest rate swap agreement 
with uOB with a notional amount of $10,000,000 whereby it pays a fixed rate of 1.56% per annum and receives a 3 
months SGD SOR fixed by Association of Banks on the notional amount. The swap is being used to hedge against 
the interest rate exposure on the land loan for acquisition of “The Aspine” development project (Note 17.3e). The 
land loan and interest rate swap have the same critical terms, except that the interest rate swap agreement is for a 
notional amount of $10,000,000 whereas the land loan is for an amount of $113,707,000 (2008: $113,707,000). The 
fair value of the interest rate swap as at 31 December 2009 amounted to $25,549 (2008: $6,745) payable.

16. Due to a related company (non-trade)

The amounts due to a related company comprised:

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Loans 13,515,290 11,933,290 – –
Interest payable 143,196 108,373 – –
Others 5,527 5,526 – –

13,664,013 12,047,189 – –

The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, repayable on demand and in cash. The loans bear interest at 0.03% to 0.86% 
(2008: 0.41% to 1.05%) per annum.
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Group Company
Effective

interest rate
(% per annum) Maturity 2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Current liabilities

Bank term loans
 (Note 17.1) 2.22(1)(2) 2010 41,752,886 – – –
Construction loans
 (Note 17.2) 1.59(1) 2010 4,721,422 – – –
Land loans (Note 17.3) 1.87(1)(2) 2010 11,165,000 – – –
Bank overdrafts
 (Note 17.4) 4.86 2010 201,514 6,510 – –
Interest payable 2010 906,656 1,046,343 – –
Lease obligations
 (Note 18) 2.22(1) 2010 11,280 11,280 9,996 9,996

58,758,758 1,064,133 9,996 9,996

Non-current liabilities

Bank term loans
 (Note 17.1) 1.80(1) (2) 2012 111,999,205 145,115,694 – –
Construction loans
 (Note 17.2) 2.26(1) 2011 – 2012 9,411,198 3,552,736 – –
Land loans (Note 17.3) 2.59(1) (2) 2011 – 2012 205,092,000 218,957,000 – –
Lease obligations
 (Note 18) 2.22(1) 2011 9,191 19,187 9,191 19,187

326,511,594 367,644,617 9,191 19,187

Total 385,270,352 368,708,750 19,187 29,183

(1) Based on weighted average effective interest rates.
(2) Included the effect of interest rate swaps as disclosed in Note 15.

17.1 The bank term loans bear interest at floating rates, which ranged from 1.26% to 3.05% (2008: 1.65% to 3.43%) per annum 
during the year. Interest rates of these loans are repriced at an interval of 1 to 6 months.

(a) A loan of $111,999,205 (2008: $111,115,694) carried interest at an interest rate mark-up above bank’s Cost of Fund. 
During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.28% to 3.05% (2008: 1.65% to 3.43%) per annum. The 
loan is repayable by 31 January 2012 or 6 months after the issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit, whichever 
is earlier; and

(b) A loan of $41,752,886 (2008: $34,000,000) carried interest at an interest rate mark-up above bank’s Cost of Fund. 
During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.26% to 2.33% (2008: 2.25% to 2.40%) per annum. The 
loan is repayable by 31 December 2010 or 36 months from the date of first drawdown, whichever is earlier.
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (cont’d)

17.2 The construction loans bear interest at floating rates, which ranged from 1.26% to 3.00% (2008: 1.59% to 3.71%) per annum 
during the year. Interest rates of these loans are repriced at an interval of 1 to 6 months.

(a) Loans of $1,548,545 (2008: $941,431) carried interest at an interest rate mark-up above bank’s Cost of Fund. During 
the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.26% to 2.76% (2008: 1.60% to 2.83%) per annum. The loan is 
repayable by 31 December 2011 or 6 months after the issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit, whichever is 
earlier;

(b) A loan of $7,493,308 (2008: $2,241,960) carried interest at an interest rate mark-up above bank’s Cost of Fund. 
During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.26% to 2.74% (2008: 1.70% to 2.74%) per annum. The 
loan is repayable by 30 June 2012 or 6 months after the issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit, whichever is 
earlier;

(c) A loan of $369,345 (2008: $369,345) carried interest at an interest rate mark-up above bank’s Cost of Fund. During 
the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.43% to 3.00% (2008: 1.59% to 2.93%) per annum. The loan is 
repayable within 48 months from date of acceptance of facility letter or on 31 December 2011, whichever is earlier; 
and

(d) A loan of $4,721,422 carried interest at an interest rate which bears interest at an interest rate mark-up above the 
bank’s Swap Cost. During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.33% to 1.76% per annum. The loan is 
fully repayable by 31 March 2010.

17.3 The land loans bear interest at floating rates, which ranged from 1.26% to 3.14% (2008: 1.46% to 3.75%) per annum during 
the year. Interest rates of these loans are repriced at an interval of 1 to 6 months. 

(a) loan of $5,225,000 (2008: $5,225,000), which bears interest at an interest rate mark-up above the bank’s Swap Cost. 
During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.40 % to 2.67% (2008: 1.87% to 3.75%) per annum. The 
loan is fully repayable by 31 March 2010;

(b) loan of $16,500,000 (2008: $19,200,000), which bears interest at an interest rate mark-up above the bank’s Cost of 
Fund. During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.67% to 2.75% (2008: 1.85% to 3.44%) per annum. 
The loan is fully repayable within six months after date of issue of the Temporary Occupation Permit for the 
development properties or by 31 December 2011, whichever is earlier;

(c) loan of $74,885,000 (2008: $74,885,000), which bears interest at an interest rate mark-up above the bank’s Cost of 
Fund. During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.28% to 2.27% (2008: 1.54% to 2.33%) per annum. 
The loan is fully repayable by 30 June 2012 or 6 months after the issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit, 
whichever is earlier;

(d) loan of $5,940,000 (2008: $5,940,000), which bears interest at an interest rate mark-up above the bank’s Cost of 
Fund. During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.26% to 2.24% (2008: 1.46% to 2.25%) per annum. 
The loan is fully repayable by 31 December 2010 or 36 months from the date of first drawdown, whichever is earlier; 
and

(e) loan of $113,707,000 (2008: $113,707,000), which bears interest at an interest rate mark-up above the bank’s Cost of 
Fund. During the year, the floating interest rates ranged from 1.36% to 3.14% (2008: 1.63% to 2.79%) per annum. 
The loan is fully repayable 6 months after the issuance of Temporary Occupation Permit or on 31 December 2011, 
whichever is earlier.

17.4 Bank overdrafts denominated in SGD were repayable on demand and had a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.86% 
(2008: 4.50%) per annum. Interest rates of bank overdrafts were repriced at an interval of 1 month.
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (cont’d)

17.5 The bank term loans, bank overdrafts, construction loans and land loans are secured by the following:

(a) legal mortgages on the Group’s investment properties and freehold properties;

(b) first legal mortgage over development properties;

(c) first legal assignment of all rights and benefits under the sales and purchase agreements and/or tenancy 
agreements;

(d) assignment of proceeds of the Project Account and the rental account maintained with the bank;

(e) the building contracts of the certain development properties;

(f) assignment of all insurance policies for certain development properties;

(g) deed of subordination to subordinate all loans and advances from the holding company to the facilities; and

(h) corporate guarantees given by the Company and the joint venturers.

The bank facility agreements include covenants that require the maintenance of certain financial ratios. Non-compliance 
with certain material covenants may result in these loans being repayable immediately.

18. Lease obligations

The Group has entered into finance leases on its motor vehicles. Lease terms range from 2 to 7 years. Lease terms do not contain 
restrictions on the Group activities concerning dividends, additional debts or further leasing.

Future minimum lease payments under finance lease liabilities together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments 
are as follows:

Group

Minimum
lease

payments

Present
value of

payments

Minimum
lease

payments

Present
value of

payments
2009 2009 2008 2008

$ $ $ $

Within 1 year 12,828 11,280 12,828 11,280
After 1 year but within 5 years 10,554 9,191 22,098 19,187

Total minimum lease payments 23,382 20,471 34,926 30,467
Less: amounts representing finance charges (2,911) – (4,459) –

Present value of minimum lease payments 20,471 20,471 30,467 30,467
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18. Lease obligations (cont’d)

Company

Minimum
lease

payments

Present
value of

payments

Minimum
lease

payments

Present
value of

payments
2009 2009 2008 2008

$ $ $ $

Within 1 year 11,544 9,996 11,544 9,996
After 1 year but within 5 years 10,554 9,191 22,098 19,187

Total minimum lease payments 22,098 19,187 33,642 29,183
Less: amounts representing finance charges (2,911) – (4,459) –

Present value of minimum lease payments 19,187 19,187 29,183 29,183

The leases bear an implicit discount rate of 2.2% (2008: 2.2% to 2.88%) per annum. The finance lease obligations are secured by 
a charge over the leased assets (Note 3).

19. Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation as at 31 December relates to the following:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Differences in depreciation for tax purposes 165 319
Differences in recognition of profits on development properties 10,604,887 3,685,402

10,605,052 3,685,721

20. Share capital and treasury shares

a) Share capital

Group and Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Number of
ordinary
shares

Number of
ordinary
shares

$ $

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 379,646,363 303,717,091 84,445,256 63,453,244

Issued during the year:
 Issuance of ordinary shares – 75,929,272 – 21,260,196
 Share issue expenses – – – (268,184)

At 31 December 379,646,363 379,646,363 84,445,256 84,445,256
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20. Share capital and treasury shares (cont’d)

b) Treasury shares

Group and Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Number of
shares

Number of
shares

$ $

At 1 January (1,453,000) – (158,557) –
Acquired during the financial year – (1,453,000) – (158,557)

At 31 December (1,453,000) (1,453,000) (158,557) (158,557)

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company.

In the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Company acquired 1,453,000 shares in the Company through purchases on 
the Singapore Exchange. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was $158,557 and this was presented as a component 
within shareholders’ equity.

21. Reserves

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Accumulated profits 96,968,918 63,799,530 15,564,943 17,060,187
Dividend reserve(Note a) 1,181,854 945,483 1,181,854 945,483
Capital reserve (Note b) (7,671,719) (7,671,719) – –

90,479,053 57,073,294 16,746,797 18,005,670

a) Dividend reserve

For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Directors of the Company have recommended that a first and final 
dividend be paid at 0.25 cent (2008: 0.25 cent) per ordinary share. An amount of $1,181,854 (2008: $945,483) has been 
appropriated from current year’s profits to dividend reserve (Note 32).

b) Capital reserve

The capital reserve arises from the application of reverse acquisition accounting.
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22. Revenue

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Revenue is analysed as follows:
Sales of development properties 110,350,174 28,365,567 – –
Project revenue arising from construction contracts 5,860 1,283,109 – –
Management fee charged to
 – joint ventures 124,078 80,000 124,078 80,000
 – subsidiary companies – – 727,111 912,343

110,480,112 29,728,676 851,189 992,343

23. Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses include:

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Non-audit fees paid to the auditors of the Company 31,268 71,367 4,440 21,024
Bad receivables written off
 – Trade – 513 – –
 – Non-trade – – – 272,115
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 152,702 193,062 18,637 50,481
Directors’ fees 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
Write-back of allowance for doubtful receivables
 – Trade (1,000) (22,500) – –
Bad trade receivables written back – (105,000) – –
Employee’ benefits expense (Note 24) 1,778,914 1,637,472 966,370 906,804
Operating lease expense (Note 31(c)) 24,000 24,000 – –

24. Employees’ benefits

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Wages, salaries and bonuses 1,559,654 1,480,273 895,472 849,641
Central Provident Fund contributions 132,078 121,107 64,537 62,310
Other staff costs 43,196 10,689 6,361 (5,147)
Casual labour 43,986 25,403 – –

1,778,914 1,637,472 966,370 906,804

Employees’ benefits include Directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 23.
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24. Employees’ benefits (cont’d)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Finance Minister announced the introduction of a Job Credit Scheme 
(“Scheme”). under this Scheme, the Group received a 12% cash grant on the first $2,500 of each month’s wages for each employee 
on their Central Provident Fund payroll. The Scheme is for one year, and the Group received its grant income of $50,914 (2008: nil) 
in four receipts in March, June, September, and December 2009. The grant was deducted against the wages, salaries and bonuses.

Share options

The Company has a share incentive plan for the granting of non-transferable options to confirmed employees, including 
Non-executive Directors. Options are granted for terms of 5 to 10 years to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares at not less 
than the market value of the shares at the date of grant. The options are exercisable beginning on the first anniversary of the date 
of grant. There are no cash settlement alternatives.

All options were fully exercised in 2007 and there was no option granted during the year.

25. Other income/(other expense)

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Other income:
Dividend income from quoted investments 4,490 9,106 – –
Dividend income from subsidiary companies – – – 4,368,590
Gain on fair value adjustment of investment 
 properties (Note 4) 870,000 1,441,840 – –
Miscellaneous income 127,594 57,128 – –
Rental income
 – investment properties (Note 4) 385,399 383,381 – –
 – development property – 1,548 – –
Fair value gain on financial instruments
 – quoted investments held for trading 139,300 – – –
 – derivatives – 5,550 – 5,550

1,526,783 1,898,553 – 4,374,140

Other expenses:
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (186) – – –
Loss on property, plant and equipment written off (740) – – –
Fair value loss on financial instruments
 – quoted investments held for trading – (195,861) – –

(926) (195,861) – –
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26. Financial income/(expenses)

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Interest expense
 – bank term loans (49,361) (12,363) – –
 – obligations under finance leases (1,548) (7,308) (1,548) (1,548)
 – loans from subsidiary companies – – (804,931) (418,168)
 – loans from related companies – (10,535) – –
 – bank overdrafts (6,793) (5,141) – –

Financial expenses (57,702) (35,347) (806,479) (419,716)

Interest income from loans and receivables
 – fixed deposits 5,371 86,763 495 33,651
 – unquoted investments – – – –
 – loans to subsidiary companies – – 187,504 517,218
 – loan to joint venture 272,669 243,799 887,737 203,484
 – loans to related company – 8,921 – 8,921
 – others 1,037 15,352 – –

Financial income 279,077 354,835 1,075,736 763,274

27. Taxation

(a) Major components of income tax expense

Major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December were:

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Profit and loss account

Provision for the year:
 Current tax 127,722 761,933 18,022 24,404
 Deferred tax
 – origination and reversal of temporary 
  differences 7,124,092 1,463,913 – –
 – benefits from previously unrecognised 
  tax losses (1,871) – (1,264) –
 – effect of reduction in tax rate (204,761) – – –

under/(Over) provision in respect of prior 
 years:
 – current tax 267,814 (2,152,812) 21,956 (213,885)

7,312,996 73,034 38,714 (189,481)
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27. Taxation (cont’d)

(b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate 
for the years ended 31 December is as follows:

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Profit before taxation 41,622,397 8,251,971 (276,072) 3,943,826

Tax at the domestic rate of 17% (2008: 18%) 7,075,807 1,485,355 (46,932) 709,889
Tax effects of (income not taxable)/expenses
 not deductible for tax purposes (295,526) (212,382) 83,826 (675,462)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 635,149 1,103,428 – –
under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years 267,814 (2,152,812) 21,956 (213,885)
utilisation of deferred tax assets not recognised 
 in prior years (117,664) (51,421) – –
Effect of partial tax exemption (56,240) (70,728) (18,872) (25,304)
Effect of reduction in tax rate (204,761) – – –
Others 8,417 (28,406) (1,264) 15,281

Income tax expense recognised 
 in the profit and loss accounts 7,312,996 73,034 38,714 (189,481)

The corporate income tax rate applicable to Singapore companies of the Group was reduced to 17% for the year of 
assessment 2010 onwards from 18% for year of assessment 2009.

Group relief

A loss-transfer system of group relief (group relief system) for companies was introduced in Singapore with effect from 
year of assessment 2003. under the group relief system, a company belonging to a group may transfer its current year 
unabsorbed capital allowances, current year unabsorbed trade losses and current year unabsorbed donations (loss items) to 
another company belonging to the same Group, to be deducted against the assessable income of the latter company.

The subsidiary companies of the Company have unutilised tax losses of $59,393,261 (2008: $60,085,400) available for offset 
against future taxable income subject to the agreement of the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore and compliance 
with certain provisions of the Singapore Income Tax Act. The deferred tax asset arising from these unutilised tax losses 
has not been recognised in the financial statements in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 2.25 to the financial 
statements.

Tax consequences of proposed dividends

There are no income tax consequences (2008: nil) attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed by the Company 
but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements (Note 32).
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27. Taxation (cont’d)

(c) Deferred income tax arising from different computation basis

There were unrecognised deferred tax assets of $3,736,170 (2008: $6,130,156) during 31 December 2009 which arise from 
the tax computations being based on the completed contract method and the accounting records being based on the 
percentage of completion method.

28. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the Group’s net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Company (after deducting dividends) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary 
shares into ordinary shares.

The following are used in the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company applicable 
 to basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share 34,349,846 8,291,466

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and dilutive earnings per 
 share computation 378,193,363 336,520,253
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29. Significant related party transactions

An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purposes of the financial statements if: i) it possesses the 
ability (directly or indirectly) to control or exercise significant influence over the operating and financial decisions of the Group or 
vice versa; or ii) it is subject to common control or common significant influence.

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant 
transactions between the Group, the Company and related parties who are not members of the Group took place during 
the year at terms agreed between the parties:

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Income
Sale of development property to a related 
 company 1,372,332 341,503 – –
Supply of labour to joint ventures 9,524 – – –
Supply of labour to a related company 54,943 45,304 – –
Supply of labour to a company 
 which a Director has controlling interest – 644 – –
Construction of show flat for joint venture – 1,065,350 – –

Expenses
Rental expense paid to a related company 24,000 24,000 – –
Site expenses paid to related company 1,095,721 617,055 – –
Supply of labour paid to related company 1,117,947 843,705 – –

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,482,396 1,359,831 1,057,200 1,000,500
Central Provident Fund contributions 91,933 84,914 63,528 62,310

1,574,329 1,444,745 1,120,728 1,062,810

Comprise amounts paid to:
 Directors of the Company 1,005,872 954,772 764,234 727,737
 Other key management personnel 568,457 489,973 356,494 335,073

1,574,329 1,444,745 1,120,728 1,062,810

Directors’ remuneration and fees totalled $855,872 (2008: $804,772) and $150,000 (2008: $150,000) respectively.

The remuneration of certain key management personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the 
performance of individuals and market trends.
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29. Significant related party transactions (cont’d)

Interests in employee share option plan

At 1 January 2009, no Directors held options to purchase ordinary shares of the Company under the employee share option plan 
(Note 24). All options granted to Directors had been exercised during 2007.

All outstanding stock options held by employees were exercised during 2007. No new options were granted during 2008 or 2009. 
At 31 December 2009, no options remained outstanding.

30. Corporate guarantees, unsecured

The Company has given corporate guarantees to financial institutions in connection with credit facilities amounting to $685,290,200 
(2008: $685,290,200) granted to its subsidiary companies. The liabilities of the Company are limited to the outstanding principal 
amounts due to financial institutions, which are $384,343,225 (2008: $367,631,940).

31. Commitments and contingencies

(a) Capital commitments

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Capital expenditure in respect of development
properties contracted at year end but not provided 
 for in the financial statements:
 – Subcontractors’ costs 13,803,529 18,878,948
 – Project and construction management fees 1,367,091 1,926,919

(b) Operating lease commitments – as lessor

The Group has entered into residential leases on certain of its properties. These non-cancellable leases have remaining 
non-cancellable lease terms of 2 and 4 years.

Future minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Not later than one year 215,769 369,191
Later than one year but not later than five years 84,738 209,399

300,507 578,590
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31. Commitments and contingencies (cont’d)

(c) Operating lease commitments – as lessee

The Group has entered into a lease for a building from a related party as disclosed in Note 29. This non-cancellable lease 
has a remaining non-cancellable lease term of 2 years with no renewal option or escalation clauses included in the lease 
contract. There are no restrictions placed upon the Group and Company by entering into this contract. Operating lease 
payments recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account during the year amounted to $24,000 (2008: $24,000).

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2009 2008

$ $

Not later than one year 24,000 12,000
Later than one year but not later than five years 12,000 –

36,000 12,000

32. Dividends

Group and Company
2009 2008

$ $

Declared and paid during the year:

Dividends on ordinary shares:
 – Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2008: 0.251 cent 
  (2008: 1.002 cent – final dividend for 2007) per share 945,483 3,035,874

Notes:
1. Dividends of 0.25 cent per share were paid based on 378,193,363 shares.
2. Dividends of 1.00 cent per share were paid based on 303,587,362 shares.

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December:

Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting:

Group and Company
2009 2008

$ $

Dividends appropriated from profits to dividend reserve (Note 21a):
 – Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2009: 0.25 cent 
 (2008: 0.25 cent) per share 1,181,854 945,483
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The 
key financial risks include interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and market price risk. The Board of Directors reviews and 
agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are executed by the Executive Director and Financial 
Controller. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. It is, and 
has been throughout the current and previous financial years the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken except for 
the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group and the Company do not apply hedge accounting 
for the newly-entered swaps (Note 15).

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks 
and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises 
primarily from their bank loans and borrowings, and interest-bearing loans from related parties and subsidiary companies. All of 
the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at floating rates are contractually repriced at intervals of less than 6 
months (2008: less than 6 months) from the balance sheet date.

The Group’s policy is to manage its exposure to interest rate risks using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this mix 
in a cost-efficient manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, 
the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. 
These swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. As at 31 December 2009, after taking into account the effects of 
interest rate swaps, approximately 16% (2008: 19%) of the Group’s borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At 31 December 2009, if SGD interest rates had been 100 (2008: 100) basis points higher with all other variables held constant, it 
would not have a significant impact on 2009 Group’s profit as the interest would be mainly incurred for development projects still 
in construction and, therefore, the interest would be capitalised in Balance Sheet under development properties. The same applies 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

Information relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is disclosed in the notes on the Group’s borrowings, including leasing 
obligations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage 
of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial 
assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management policy is to arrange specific credit facilities for each individual projects 
with different banks. With the good reputation and the long term relationship maintained with the banks, the Group is able to 
obtain high financing quantum of 80% to 85% on the development cost at favourable interest rates.

In addition, the Group has maintained standby credit facilities such as term loans and bank overdraft to meet any immediate 
obligations. For projects that have been fully sold, the management has also managed to obtain money market loan for working 
capital requirement, out of proceeds receivables from the sales of units.

For loans that are maturing within the next 12 months, the management will seek re-financing if necessary.



Hiap Hoe Limited Annual Report 2009

89

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at the balance 
sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayments obligations.

$’000 2009 2008

Group
1 year 
or less

1 to 
5 years Total

1 year 
or less

1 to 
5 years Total

Financial assets:
Cash and bank balances and 
 fixed deposits 3,521 – 3,521 9,873 – 9,873
Other investments 234 – 234 93 – 93
Trade and other receivables 855 – 855 150 – 150
Deposits 66 – 66 38 – 38
Due from ultimate holding company 
 (non-trade) 2 – 2 – – –
Due from related companies (trade) 8 – 8 – – –
Due from related companies (non-trade) 24 – 24 25 – 25
Due from joint ventures (non-trade) 48,707 – 48,707 47,564 – 47,564
Due from an associate (non-trade) 2 – 2 1 – 1
Due from joint venture (trade) 37 – 37 80 – 80

Total undiscounted financial assets 53,456 – 53,456 57,824 – 57,824

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 3,367 201 3,568 2,042 463 2,505
Due to related companies (trade) 510 – 510 581 – 581
Due to related companies (non-trade) 13,664 – 13,664 12,047 – 12,047
Other liabilities and derivatives 12,521 25 12,546 4,065 – 4,065
Loans and borrowings 66,228 335,024 401,252 9,162 384,233 393,395

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 96,290 335,250 431,540 27,897 384,696 412,593

Total net undiscounted financial assets/
 (liabilities) (42,834) (335,250) (378,084) 29,927 (384,696) (354,769)
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

$’000 2009 2008

Company
1 year 
or less

1 to 
5 years Total

1 year 
or less

1 to 
5 years Total

Financial assets:
Cash and bank balances and fixed 
 deposits 63 – 63 3,466 – 3,466
Trade and other receivables 11 – 11 1 – 1
Deposits 1 – 1 3 – 3
Due from subsidiary companies (trade) 1,369 – 1,369 1,074 – 1,074
Due from subsidiary companies 
 (non-trade) 75,563 – 75,563 72,256 – 72,256
Due from related companies (non-trade) 24 – 24 – – –
Due from joint ventures (non-trade) 43,136 – 43,136 42,012 – 42,012
Due from an associate (non-trade) 2 – 2 1 – 1
Due from joint venture (trade) 32 – 32 80 – 80

Total undiscounted financial assets 120,201 – 120,201 118,893 – 118,893

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 221 – 221 213 – 213
Due to subsidiary companies (non-trade) 67,051 – 67,051 64,380 – 64,380
Other liabilities and derivatives 556 – 556 784 – 784
Loans and borrowings 10 9 19 10 19 29

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 67,838 9 67,847 65,387 19 65,406

Total net undiscounted financial assets/
 (liabilities) 52,363 (9) 52,354 53,506 (19) 53,487

Short–term funding is obtained from term loans and bank overdraft facilities.

The Group is significantly reliant on bank financing. Management believes that the Group is able to raise cash by selling development 
properties.

During 2008, the Company raised its capital by way of issuance of shares through a rights issue of 75,929,272 new ordinary shares 
at an issue price of $0.28 for each rights share on the basis of 1 rights share for every 4 existing ordinary shares held. The Company 
received net cash inflows of $20,992,012. The proceeds from the right issue were used for repayment of certain short-term loans, 
acquisition of land parcel and other working capital purposes.

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group and Company’s contingent liabilities and commitments. The 
maximum amount of financial guarantee contracts are allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee could be called.

$’000 2009 2008

Group and the Company
1 year 
or less

1 to 
5 years Total

1 year 
or less

1 to 
5 years Total

Financial guarantees 87,048 598,242 685,290 – 685,290 685,290
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. 
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For the other financial 
assets (including investment securities, cash and cash equivalents and derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise credit 
risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. 
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade 
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.

Exposure to credit risk

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant.

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount 
of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets.

Information regarding credit exposure for trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 9.

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of its trade receivables on 
an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the balance sheet date is as follows:

Group
2009 2008

$ % of total $ % of total
By country:
Singapore 829,050 100 105,060 100

829,050 100 105,060 100

By industry sectors:
Property 829,050 100 105,060 100

829,050 100 105,060 100

At the balance sheet date, approximately 100% (2008: 100%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from sale of development 
properties. Trade receivables from the Construction sector mainly comprised amounts due from fellow subsidiary companies which 
were eliminated at the Group level.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its 
investment in quoted equity instruments. These instruments are quoted on the SGX-ST in Singapore and are classified as held for 
trading financial assets. The Group does not have exposure to commodity price risk.



Hiap Hoe Limited Annual Report 2009

92

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2009 (cont’d)

33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Market price risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

At the balance sheet date, if the STI had been 2% (2008: 2%) higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 
profit net of tax would have been $4,674 (2008: $1,868) higher/lower, arising as a result of higher/lower fair value gains on held 
for trading investments in equity instruments, and the Group’s equity would have been $4,674 (2008: $1,868) higher/lower, arising 
as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity instruments classified as held for trading.

34. Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between knowledgeable 
and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

A. Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:

Group
2009

Quoted 
prices 

in active 
markets for 

identical 
instruments

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets:
Held for trading investments (Note 8)
 – Equity instruments 234 – – 234

At 31 December 2009 234 – – 234

Financial liabilities:
Derivatives (Note 15)
 – Interest rate swap – 348 – 348

At 31 December 2009 – 348 – 348

Fair value hierarchy

The Group classify fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), and

• Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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34. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d)

A. Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value (cont’d)

Determination of fair value

Quoted equity instruments (Note 8): Fair value is determined by reference to their published bid prices or broker quotes at the 
balance sheet date without factoring in transaction costs.

Derivatives (Note 15): Fair value is provided by bank counterparties.

B. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value

Cash and short term deposits, bank overdrafts (Note 17), trade and other receivables (Note 9), due from ultimate holding company, due from/
(to) subsidiary companies (Note 10), due from/(to) related companies/associates/joint ventures (Note 11, 16), trade and other payables (Note 
13), staff loan and current and non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 17)

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to 
their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the 
balance sheet date.

C. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
not reasonable approximation of fair value

The fair values of finance lease liabilities of the Group and Company that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value are as follows:

Total carrying amount Aggregate fair value
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Group and Company
Finance lease repayable after 1 year 
 but within 5 years 10,554 22,098 9,191 19,187

Determination of fair value

The fair value has been determined using discounted estimated cash flows. The discount rates used are the current market 
incremental lending rates for similar types of leasing arrangements at the balance sheet date.
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35. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008.

The Group monitors capital using a debt equity ratio, which is total interest bearing loans and borrowings divided by equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the company.

Group 2009 2008
$ $

Interest bearing loans and borrowings (Note 17) 385,270,352 368,708,750

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company 174,765,752 141,359,993

Debt equity ratio 220.4% 260.8%

36. Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and has three reportable 
operating segments as follows:

I. The development properties segment is in the business of acquiring land/property and developing them into residential 
properties for sales.

II. The construction segment is in the business of contractors for civil and general road construction works, general contractors, 
trading of construction materials.

III. The others segment is involved in Group-level corporate services, treasury functions and investments in marketable 
securities.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, 
as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group 
financing (including finance costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
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36. Segment information (cont’d)

2009
Development 

properties Construction Others Elimination Consolidation
$ $ $ $ $

Revenue:

Segmental revenue
 – External sales 110,350,174 5,860 124,078 – 110,480,112
 – Inter-segment sales (Note A) – 29,017,050 727,110 (29,744,160) –

110,350,174 29,022,910 851,188 (29,744,160) 110,480,112

Results:

Other income 34,505 482,978 – – 517,483
Financial income 18,839 656 888,233 (628,651) 297,077
Financial expenses (678,012) (6,793) (1,548) 628,651 (57,702)
Fair value gains on investment properties – – 870,000 – 870,000
Fair value gains on financial instruments
  – quoted investments held for trading – – 139,300 – 139,300
Depreciation (2,569) (131,496) (18,637) – (152,702)
Other expenses (Note B) (740) (186) – – (926)
Share of results of an associate – – – – –
Share of results of joint ventures – – – – –
Segment profit/(loss) (Note C) 42,934,452 246,242 1,345,655 (2,903,952) 41,622,397

Assets:

Investment in associates – – 5 – 5
Additions to non-current assets (Note D) – 45,647 – – 45,647
Segment assets (Note E) 550,317,639 14,287,348 91,991,291 (54,673,250) 601,923,028

Segment liabilities (Note F) 416,183,517 9,855,126 838,494 62,551 426,939,688
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36. Segment information (cont’d)

2008
Development 

properties Construction Others Elimination Consolidation
$ $ $ $ $

Revenue:

Segmental revenue
 – External sales 28,365,567 1,283,109 80,000 – 29,728,676
 – Inter-segment sales (Note A) – 6,935,859 912,343 (7,848,202) –

28,365,567 8,218,968 992,343 (7,848,202) 29,728,676

Results:

Other income 14,159 437,004 – – 451,163
Financial income 108,477 302 246,056 – 354,835
Financial expenses (10,535) (23,264) (1,548) – (35,347)
Fair value gains on investment properties – – 1,441,840 – 1,441,840
Fair value gains on financial instruments
  – quoted investments held for trading – – (195,861) – (195,861)
Depreciation (2,257) (140,324) (50,481) – (193,062)
Other expenses (Note B) – – 5,550 – 5,550
Share of results of an associate – – (4) – (4)
Share of results of joint ventures (599,856) – (5) – (599,861)
Segment profit/(loss) (Note C) 11,126,087 (66,518) 994,280 (3,801,878) 8,251,971

Assets:

Investment in associates – – 5 – 5
Additions to non-current assets (Note D) 1,798 16,086 1,658 – 19,542
Segment assets (Note E) 478,717,709 13,673,272 94,403,065 (52,461,715) 534,332,331

Segment liabilities (Note F) 388,006,532 4,238,931 1,061,967 (593,125) 392,714,305
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36. Segment information (cont’d)

Notes

A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B Other expenses consist of fair value loss on derivatives, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, loss on property, 
plant and equipment written off.

C The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment profit to arrive at “Profit before tax” presented in the 
consolidated income statement:

2009 2008
$ $

Profit from inter-segment sales 2,903,952 3,801,878

D Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment.

E The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the consolidated 
balance sheet:

2009 2008
$ $

Investments in subsidiary companies (48,682,553) (48,682,553)
Investments in associates 5 5
Inter-segment assets (5,990,702) (3,779,167)

(54,673,250) (52,461,715)

F The following items are added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the consolidated balance sheet:

2009 2008

Provision for taxation 62,546 (593,130)
Due to associates 5 5

62,551 (593,125)

Geographical information
Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets respectively are as 
follows:

Revenues Non-current assets
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Singapore 110,480,112 29,728,676 11,716,656 10,933,305

There had been no transaction with a single external customer that amounts to 10% of the Group revenue.
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37. Directors’ remuneration

The number of Directors of the Company whose emoluments fall within the following bands are:

Company
2009 2008

$250,000 to $499,999 1 1
Below $250,000 6 6

7 7

38. Major properties owned by the Group

Address Held by Title
Built up area 
(sq. metres) Description

Investment properties

1. 51 Jalan Pemimpin 
#05-01, Mayfair 
Industrial Building 
Singapore 577206

Westbuild Construction 
 Pte Ltd

Lease term of 
999 years 
(wef 6 July 
1885)

118 Flatted factory unit

2. 147/A/B Tyrwhitt 
Road 
Singapore 207561

Westbuild Construction 
 Pte Ltd

Freehold 478 31/2-storey postwar 
shophouse

3. 34 Happy Avenue 
East
Singapore 369843

Westbuild Construction 
 Pte Ltd

Freehold 554 21/2-storey corner 
terrace house

Property, plant and equipment

1. 56/56A/58 Kallang 
Pudding Road 
Singapore 349329

Westbuild Construction 
 Pte Ltd

Freehold 689 Single-user/
occupier 9-storey 
terrace units

39. Subsequent events

The Company is having a bonus issue of up to 94,911,590 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Bonus Shares”) to 
be allotted and issued on the basis of one (1) Bonus Share for every four (4) existing ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
held by shareholders of the Company as at the Books Closure Date, 15 March 2010.
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40. Comparative figures

As the net work-in-progress relates to costs incurred by the Group for its ongoing development property projects which had yet to 
be re-charged out to the respective projects as at 31 December 2008, the comparative figures have been reclassified to development 
properties as follows:

Reclassified Previous
Group 2008 2008

$ $

Balance sheet

Current
Development properties 465,376,425 463,096,859
Work-in-progress – 2,279,566

465,376,425 465,376,425

41. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on 15 March 2010.
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Number of Ordinary Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) : 378,193,363

Number/Percentage of Treasury Shares held : 1,453,000 (0.38%)

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share

Distribution of Shareholdings

Number of Number of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders % Shares %

1 – 999 1,169 31.43 348,481 0.09
1,000 – 10,000 1,534 41.25 7,602,563 2.01
10,001 – 1,000,000 1,002 26.94 62,119,754 16.43
1,000,001 and above 14 0.38 308,122,565 81.47

Total 3,719 100.00 378,193,363 100.00

Twenty Largest Shareholders

No. Name Number of Shares %

1 Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd 262,955,101 69.53
2 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 9,684,315 2.56
3 Soon Li Heng Civil Engineering Pte Ltd 7,300,000 1.93
4 Pang Heng Kwee 4,216,000 1.11
5 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 3,927,051 1.04
6 united Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 3,732,798 0.99
7 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 3,352,410 0.89
8 uOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 2,484,698 0.66
9 Kan Kon Cheong 2,260,000 0.60
10 Soon Lee Heng Trading & Transportation Pte Ltd 1,795,000 0.47
11 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 1,713,442 0.45
12 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 1,606,750 0.42
13 Teo Ho Beng 1,595,000 0.42
14 Teo Ho Kang, Roland 1,500,000 0.40
15 Tan Sia Keng 960,000 0.25
16 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 947,586 0.25
17 Hoe Kok Weng 946,200 0.25
18 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 940,949 0.25
19 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 899,500 0.24
20 Chong Tong Construction Pte Ltd 847,322 0.22

Total 313,664,122 82.93

29.47% of the Company’s shares (excluding treasury shares) are held in the hand of public. Accordingly, the Company complied with Rule 
723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.
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Substantial Shareholders as at 12th March 2010

No. Name of Shareholder Direct Deemed Interest

1 Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd 262,955,101 –
2 Teo Guan Seng, BBM – 262,955,101
3 Teo Ho Beng 1,595,000 262,955,101
4 Teo Ho Kang, Roland 1,500,000 262,955,101

Note

Messrs Teo Guan Seng, BBM, Teo Ho Beng and Teo Ho Kang, Roland’s deemed interests are derived from their shareholdings in Hiap 
Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Hiap Hoe Limited (“the Company”) will be held at Orchard Hotel, 
Lavender Room, 442 Orchard Road Singapore 238879 on Tuesday, 20 April 2010 at 11.30 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009 
together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a first and final dividend of 0.25 cent per ordinary share tax exempt one-tier for the year ended 31 December 2009 
(previous year: 0.25 cent per ordinary share). (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 106 of the Articles of Association of the 
Company:

 Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland (Resolution 3)
 Mr Chan Wah Tiong (Resolution 4)

Mr Chan Wah Tiong will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nominating 
Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered independent.

4. To re-appoint Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM, a director of the Company retiring under Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, 
to hold office from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
[See Explanatory Note (i)]

Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM, will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Nominating Committee and will be 
considered non-independent. (Resolution 5)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$158,000 for the year ended 31 December 2009 (previous year: S$150,000). 
(Resolution 6)

6. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix 
their remuneration. (Resolution 7)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

8. Authority to issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be 
issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures 
or other instruments convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the Company 
may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and
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(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of 
any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant 
to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) 
below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company 
shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the 
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number 
of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) 
shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time 
of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at 
the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) (until 31 December 2010 or such other expiration date as may be determined by SGX-ST), the limit on the aggregate number 
of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) 
of fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company set 
out in sub-paragraph (1) above, shall be increased to 100%, for purposes of enabling the Company to undertake pro-rata 
renounceable rights issues;

(4) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual 
of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of 
Association of the Company; and

(5) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 8)

9. Authority to issue shares other than on a pro-rata basis pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate at discounts not 
exceeding twenty per cent (20%) of the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST.

 That subject to and pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate being obtained, the Directors of the Company be hereby authorised 
and empowered to issue shares (other than on a pro-rata basis to the shareholders of the Company) at a discount (the “Discount”) 
not exceeding ten per cent (10%) to the weighted average price (the “Price”)for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market 
day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed (or if not available for a full market 
day, the weighted average price must be based on the trades done on the preceding market day up to the time the placement or 
subscription agreement is executed), provided that in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution:–

(a) the Company complies with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST); and
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(b) the Company may, until 31 December 2010 or such other expiration date as may be determined by SGX-ST increase the 
Discount to an amount exceeding ten per cent (10%) but not more than twenty per cent (20%) of the Price for shares to 
be issued,unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until (a) the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or (b) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 9)

10. Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST:

(a) approval be and is hereby given for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (the “Listing Manual”) 
for Westbuild Construction Pte. Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which is an entity at risk (as defined in 
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual), to enter into any of the transactions falling within the categories of interested person 
transactions described in paragraph 3 of the Appendix to the Summary Sheet attached to this Annual Report 2009 (the 
“Appendix”) with specified classes of interested persons described in paragraph 2 of the Appendix, provided that such 
transactions are made on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures for such interested person 
transactions;

(b) the approval given in paragraph (a) above shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and

(c) authority be given to the Directors of the Company to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing all such 
documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to the Shareholders’ 
Mandate as they may think fit.

[See Explanatory Note (iv)] (Resolution 10)

11. Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

That for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised to make purchases or otherwise acquire issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time (whether by 
way of market purchases or off-market purchases on an equal access scheme) of up to ten per cent (10%) of the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as ascertained as at the date of Annual General Meeting 
of the Company) at the price of up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price as defined in paragraph 2 of the Company’s Circular 
to shareholders dated 9 April 2008 (the “Circular”), in accordance with the said Circular on “Share Purchase Mandate”, and this 
mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held, whichever is earlier.
[See Explanatory Note (v)] (Resolution 11)

By Order of the Board

Lai Foon Kuen
Company Secretary

Singapore, 5 April 2010
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Explanatory Notes:

(i) The effect of the Ordinary Resolution 5 is to re-appoint a director of the Company who is over 70 years of age.

(ii) The Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, 
or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general 
meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number 
not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than 
on a pro-rata basis to shareholders. The 50% limit referred to in the preceding sentence may be increased to 100% for the Company to undertake pro-rata renounceable 
rights issues subject to timeline stated below.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) will be calculated based on the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion 
or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed 
and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

The 100% renounceable pro-rata rights issue limit is one of the new measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press release entitled “SGX introduces further 
measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 which became effective on 20 February 2009 until 31 December 2010. The effectiveness of these measures 
will be reviewed by the SGX-ST at the end of the period. It will provide the Directors with an opportunity to raise funds and avoid prolonged market exposure by 
reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the event the need arises. Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated as all shareholders have equal opportunities 
to participate and can dispose their entitlements through trading of nil-paid rights if they do not wish to subscribe for their rights shares. It is subject to the condition 
that the Company makes periodic announcements on the use of the proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed and provides a status report on the use 
of proceeds in the annual report.

(iii) The Ordinary Resolution 9 is pursuant to measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press release entitled “SGX introduces further measures to facilitate 
fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 which became effective on 20 February 2009 until 31 December 2010. under the measures implemented by the SGX-ST, issuers 
will be allowed to undertake non pro-rata placements of new shares priced at discounts of up to 20% to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for 
a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed, subject to the conditions that (a) shareholders’ approval be 
obtained in a separate resolution (the “Resolution”) at a general meeting to issue new shares on a non pro-rata basis at discount exceeding 10% but not more than 20%; 
and (b) that the resolution seeking a general mandate from shareholders for issuance of new shares on a non pro-rata basis is not conditional upon the Resolution.

It should be noted that under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, shareholders’ approval is not required for placements of new shares, on a non pro-rata basis pursuant to 
a general mandate, at a discount of up to 10% to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription 
agreement in relation to such shares is executed.

(iv) The Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions as described in the Appendix and recurring in the year and will empower the 
Directors of the Company to do all acts necessary to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in 
a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 
required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

(v) The Ordinary Resolution 11, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, to repurchase ordinary shares of the 
Company by way of market purchases or off-market purchases of up to ten per cent (10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital 
of the Company at the Maximum Price as defined in the Circular dated 9 April 2008. The rationale for, the authority and limitation on, the sources of funds to be used 
for the purchase or acquisition including the amount of financing and the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of ordinary shares by the Company pursuant 
to the Share Purchase Mandate on the audited consolidated financial accounts of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 are set out in greater detail 
in the Letter to Shareholders enclosed together with the Annual Report.

Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need 
not be a Member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 564A Balestier Road, Singapore 329880 not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS 

1. INTRODUCTION

We refer to the Notice of Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Hiap Hoe Limited (the”Company”) dated 5 April 2010 (the 
“Notice”), accompanying the Annual Report of our Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 (the “2009 AR”), 
convening the AGM of our Company which is scheduled to be held on 20 April 2010 and the Ordinary Resolution 10 in relation 
to the renewal of the interested person transactions mandate under the heading “Special Business” set out in the Notice.

The purpose of this summary sheet is to provide relevant information relating to the renewal of the interested person transactions 
mandate to the shareholders in accordance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (“Listing Manual”).

2. RENEWAL OF THE INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS MANDATE

2.1 Existing Interested Person Transactions Mandate

At an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company held on 18 January 2007, the Company obtained shareholders’ 
approval for the shareholders’ mandate for interested person transactions to be carried out by the Company and its 
subsidiaries (“Group”) with the SuperBowl Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“SuperBowl Group”) and/or the Hiap 
Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries (“Hiap Hoe Holdings Group”). The authority and limitations of the shareholders’ 
mandate for interested person transactions were set out in the Company’s circular to shareholders dated 22 December 2006. 
The interested person transactions mandate was renewed at the EGM held on 24 April 2008 (“2008 EGM”) and will expire 
on the date of the forthcoming AGM to be held on 20 April 2010. Accordingly, the Company is seeking shareholders’ 
approval for the renewal of the interested person transactions mandate at the AGM, to take effect until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company.

2.2 Details of the Interested Persons Transactions Mandate

Details of the shareholders’ mandate, including the rationale for, and the benefits to, the Company, the review procedures 
for determining transaction prices with interested persons and other general information relating to Chapter 9 of the Listing 
Manual, are set out in the Appendix to this summary sheet.
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3. DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Based on the register of directors and the register of substantial shareholders, as at the Latest Practicable Date, 15 March 2010, the 
shareholdings of the directors and substantial shareholders in the Company are set out below.

3.1 Directors’ Interest in Shares

The interests of the directors in shares as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Directors
Number of

Shares %
Number of 

Shares %

Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM – – 262,955,101 69.53

Mr Teo Ho Beng 1,595,000 0.422 262,955,101 69.53

Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland 1,500,000 0.397 262,955,101 69.53

Ms Lim Kim Soon Lee, Cindy 350,000 0.093 – –

Dr Wang Kai Yuen 60,000 0.016 – –

Mr Chan Wah Tiong 75,000 0.020 – –

Mr Chan Boon Hui 75,000 0.020 – –

Note:
(1) Mr. Teo Guan Seng, BBM, Mr. Teo Ho Beng and Mr. Teo Ho Kang, Roland are directors of the Company. They are deemed to have shareholding interests 

in the Company by virtue of their 30.01%, 25.63% and 22.00% shareholding interests respectively in Hiap Hoe Holdings, which has a 69.53% direct 
shareholding interest in the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(2) The shareholdings are computed based on total number of shares of 378,193,363 excluding treasury shares of 1,453,000.

3.2 Substantial Shareholder’s Interest in Shares

The interests of the substantial shareholder of the Company, Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte Ltd (“Hiap Hoe Holdings”), in shares 
as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Substantial Shareholder Number of Shares % Number of Shares %

Hiap Hoe Holdings Pte. Ltd. 262,955,101 69.53 – –

Note:
(1) The shareholdings are computed based on total number of shares of 378,193,363 excluding treasury shares of 1,453,000.

4. APPROVALS REQUIRED

The proposed renewal of the interested person transactions mandate is subject to shareholders’ approval.

5. ABSTENTIONS

Hiap Hoe Holdings, which has a direct interest in 69.53% of the issued shares excluding treasury shares, will abstain and has 
undertaken to ensure that its associates will abstain, from voting on ordinary resolution 10. Messrs Teo Guan Seng, BBM, Teo Ho 
Beng and Teo Ho Kang, Roland, being directors of Hiap Hoe Holdings and SuperBowl Holdings Limited (“SuperBowl”), and Dr 
Wang Kai Yuen being a director of SuperBowl, will also abstain from making recommendations and voting on ordinary resolution 
10. They have also undertaken to ensure that their associates will abstain from voting on ordinary resolution 10.
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6. STATEMENT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

6.1 Interests of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Chan Wah Tiong, Dr Wang Kai Yuen and Mr. Chan Boon Hui, all of whom are 
independent directors of the Company. Dr Wang Kai Yuen will abstain from commenting and making a recommendation 
on the renewal of interested person transactions mandate in paragraphs 6.2 and 7 of this summary sheet respectively in 
view of the fact that he is also a director of SuperBowl.

6.2 Opinion of the Audit Committee

Having considered inter alia the terms, the rationale for and the benefit of the proposed shareholders’ mandate, the Audit 
Committee (excluding Dr Wang Kai Yuen) confirms that:

(a) the review procedures for determining the transaction prices have not changed since the last shareholder approval 
at the 2008 EGM; and

(b) the review procedures set out in paragraph 5.2 of the Appendix to this summary sheet are sufficient to ensure that 
the interested person transactions will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the 
interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.

7. DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION

In relation to the proposed renewal of interested person transactions mandate, having considered inter alia the terms, the rationale 
and the benefits of the mandate, the independent directors are of the view that the proposed renewal of the interested person 
transactions mandate is in the best interests of the Company and accordingly recommend that shareholders vote in favour of 
ordinary resolution 10 to approve the proposed renewal of the interested person transactions mandate at the AGM (as set out in 
the Notice of AGM).

8. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this summary sheet 
and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated and opinions 
expressed in this summary sheet are fair and accurate in all material respects and that there are no material facts the omission of 
which would make any statement in this summary sheet misleading.

Where information has been extracted and/or reproduced from published and publicly available sources, the sole responsibility of 
the directors has been to ensure that such information is accurately reproduced in this summary sheet.

9. ADVICE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders who are in any doubt as to the action they should take should consult their stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, 
accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

10. THE SINGAPORE EXCHANGE SECURITIES TRADING LIMITED (“SGX-ST”) 
DISCLAIMER

The SGX-ST takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any statements or opinions made in this summary sheet.
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THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

1. CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL

1.1 Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual governs transactions by a listed company, as well as transactions by its subsidiaries and 
associated companies that are considered to be at-risk with the listed company’s interested persons. When Chapter 9 of 
the Listing Manual applies to a transaction and the value of the transaction alone or on aggregation with other transactions 
conducted with the interested person during the financial year reaches, or exceeds, certain materiality thresholds, the listed 
company is required to make an immediate announcement, or to make an immediate announcement and seek its shareholders’ 
approval for that transaction.

1.2 Except for certain transactions which, by reason of the nature of such transactions, are not considered to put the listed 
company at risk to its interested person and hence are excluded from the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, immediate 
announcement and shareholders’ approval would be required in respect of transactions with interested persons if certain 
financial thresholds (which are based on the value of the transaction as compared with the listed company’s latest audited 
consolidated net tangible assets (“NTA”)) are reached or exceeded. In particular, shareholders’ approval is required for an 
interested person transaction of a value equal to, or which exceeds:

(a) 5% of the latest audited consolidated NTA of the listed company and its subsidiaries; or

(b) 5% of the latest audited consolidated NTA of the listed company and its subsidiaries, when aggregated with other 
transactions entered into with the same interested person (as such term is construed under Chapter 9 of the Listing 
Manual) during the same financial year. Based on the latest audited consolidated accounts of the Group for FY2009, 
the consolidated NTA of the Group was S$174,765,752. In relation to the Company, for the purposes of Chapter 9 
of the Listing Manual, in the current financial year, 5% of the latest audited consolidated NTA of the Group would 
be S$8,738,288.

1.3 Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual permits a listed company, however, to seek a mandate from its shareholders for recurrent 
transactions of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations such as the purchase and sale of 
supplies and materials (but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses) that may be carried 
out with the listed company’s interested persons.

1.4 under the Listing Manual:

(a) an “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interests of shareholders 
against interested person transactions according to similar principles to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual;

(b) an “associate” in the case of a company, (i) in relation to any director, chief executive officer, substantial 
shareholders or controlling shareholder (being an individual) means his immediate family member (that is, the 
person’s spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, sibling and parent), the trustees of any trust of which he or his 
immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object, and any company 
in which he and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more; and (ii) in 
relation to a substantial shareholder or a controlling shareholder (being a company) means any other company which 
is its subsidiary or holding company or is a subsidiary of such holding company or one in the equity of which it 
and/or such other company or companies taken together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;
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1. CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL (CONT’D)

1.4 under the Listing Manual: (cont’d)

(c) an “entity at risk” means:

(i) the listed company;

(ii) a subsidiary of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange; or 

(iii) an associated company of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange, 
provided that the listed company and its group companies (the “listed group”), or the listed group and its 
interested person(s), has control over the associated company;

(d) an “interested person” in a case of company means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder 
of the listed company, or an associate of any such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder; and

(e) an “interested person transaction” means a transaction between an entity at risk and an interested person.

2. CLASSES OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Hiap Hoe Holdings is the Controlling Shareholder of both the Company and SuperBowl Holdings Limited (“SuperBowl”). 
Accordingly, transactions carried out by the Group with the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group are considered 
to be interested person transactions within the meaning of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.

The shareholders’ mandate applies to the interested person transactions which are and/or will be carried out by Westbuild 
Construction Pte. Ltd. (“Westbuild”) with the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group. Transactions with interested 
persons which do not fall within the ambit of the shareholders’ mandate shall be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 
of the Listing Manual.

3. NATURE OF INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The interested person transactions which will be covered by the shareholders’ mandate are in relation to the provision of 
services to the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group in the normal course of business of Westbuild.

These interested person transactions are recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature in the normal course of business of 
Westbuild, but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses. For the purposes of the shareholders’ 
mandate, the proposed interested person transactions will include:

(a) the procurement of equipment for the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group including but not limited 
to construction and building equipment;

(b) the procurement of materials for the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group including but not limited to 
building materials;

(c) the provision to the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group of building and construction services under 
construction contracts; and

(d) the provision to the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings Group of general building, construction, engineering, 
maintenance and technical services.
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4. RATIONALE FOR AND BENEFIT OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE

4.1 Rationale

It is envisaged that in the ordinary course of business of Westbuild, transactions between Westbuild and the interested 
persons of the Group are likely to occur from time to time. In view of the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, 
the shareholders’ mandate will enable the Group, or any of the companies of the Group, in the ordinary course of their 
businesses, to enter into the categories of interested person transactions set out in paragraph 3 above with the specified 
classes of the Group’s interested persons set out in paragraph 2 above, provided such interested person transactions are 
made on normal commercial terms.

In relation to the proposed interested person transactions referred to in paragraph 3 above, the consideration for the 
equipment, materials and/or services supplied or procured by Westbuild to the interested persons is determined based on 
(i) the actual costs of supply of equipment, materials and/or services by Westbuild to the interested persons, plus (ii) a 
fixed agreed margin of 5% for each contract. In the event that the costs of supply of equipment, materials and/or services 
by Westbuild to the interested persons shall increase or reduce as compared to the initial quoted costs for any reason 
(other than as a result of the default or breaches of Westbuild for which costs Westbuild will be responsible to bear), the 
consideration payable by the relevant interested persons to Westbuild shall be based on such increased or reduced actual 
costs, as the case may be (the “Pricing Formula”).

The fixed agreed margin of 5% was adopted by Westbuild after taking into consideration various factors including the 
following:

(a) the range of margins typically achieved by Westbuild varies from approximately 2% to 10%, dependent on factors 
such as the type and the size of the amount of the transaction;

(b) based on the Pricing Formula, Westbuild will be assured of a fixed margin over its actual costs of supply of 
equipment, materials and/or services to the interested persons; and

(c) the SuperBowl Group, one of the interested persons, is listed on the SGX-ST. Accordingly, as both the Group as 
well as the SuperBowl Group are listed on the SGX-ST, the proposed margin should be within market range and 
not prejudicial to either group.

The procurement of substantial or material equipment, materials and/or services by Westbuild from its suppliers and/or 
sub-contractors would generally be conducted through a competitive tender exercise.

4.2 Benefit

The renewal of the shareholders’ mandate (and its subsequent renewal thereafter on an annual basis) will enhance the ability 
of Westbuild to pursue business opportunities in its ordinary course of business, and will eliminate the need for the Company 
to announce, or to announce and convene separate general meetings on each occasion to seek shareholders’ prior approval 
for the entry by Westbuild into such transactions. This will substantially reduce administrative time, inconvenience and 
expenses associated with the convening of the general meetings on an ad hoc basis, without compromising the corporate 
objectives of the Group and/or adversely affecting the business opportunities available to the Group. This will also improve 
administrative efficiency considerably, and allow major manpower resources and time to be channelled towards attaining 
other corporate objectives.
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5. METHODS AND PROCEDURES FOR REVIEW

5.1 Review Threshold Limits

The Company shall ensure that transactions are undertaken with interested persons on an arm’s length basis and on normal 
commercial terms as follows:

(a) a Category 1 transaction is one with an interested person where the transaction value is below or equal to 
S$100,000;

(b) a Category 2 transaction is one with an interested person where the transaction value is in excess of S$100,000 up 
to S$1,000,000; and

(c) a Category 3 transaction is one with an interested person where the transaction value is in excess of S$1,000,000.

Category 1 transactions do not require the prior approval of the Audit Committee but shall be reviewed at its periodic 
meetings by the Audit Committee. Category 2 transactions do not require the prior approval of the Audit Committee but 
shall be notified to the Audit Committee for review within one month of the month-end of the preceding month in which 
transactions are entered into. The board of directors will give their proposal for Category 3 transactions to the Audit 
Committee for approval.

Any variation order in excess of 15% of the value of the original contract of value in excess of S$1,000,000 must also be 
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.

5.2 Review Procedures

(a) Audit Committee

In reviewing the interested person transactions, the Audit Committee shall ensure that transactions with interested 
persons shall be based on the consideration structure described in paragraph 5.1 above, and are undertaken on 
an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms, and are generally not prejudicial to the Company and its 
minority Shareholders.

(b) Internal Review

All billings for interested person transactions and reconciliation of differences will be prepared by the accounts 
department of the Group. These billings and reconciliation works will have to be checked by the Group’s accountant 
and reviewed by the financial controller of the Group. After which, a non-interested executive Director of the 
Company will approve all billings raised by Westbuild to the SuperBowl Group and/or the Hiap Hoe Holdings 
Group, as the case may be.

(c) Independent Internal Audit

An internal audit will be conducted by third party independent auditors engaged by the Group on the interested 
person transactions. The independent internal audit plan will address the review of the interested person transactions 
entered into pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate and ensure that the review procedures for these transactions 
are complied and adhered with.
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5. METHODS AND PROCEDURES FOR REVIEW (CONT’D)

5.3 Other Procedures

In addition to the review procedures set out above, the following will also be implemented:

(a) the Company will maintain a register of transactions carried out with interested persons pursuant to the shareholders’ 
mandate (recording the basis, including the quotations obtained to support such basis, on which they were entered 
into);

(b) reconciliation of differences between actual invoices and progress claims and any settlement thereof will be compiled 
on a quarterly basis and submitted to the Audit Committee for review at its periodic meetings to ascertain that the 
established review procedures to monitor interested person transactions have been complied with;

(c) if during these periodic reviews by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is of the view that the review 
procedures as stated above have become inappropriate or insufficient in view of changes to the nature of, or the 
manner in which, the business activities of the Group are conducted, the Company will revert to shareholders for 
a fresh mandate based on new guidelines and review procedures to ensure that interested person transactions will 
be on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms; and

(d) if a member of the Audit Committee has an interest in an interested person transaction to be reviewed by the Audit 
Committee, he (and his associates, if applicable) will abstain from any decision making in respect of that transaction 
and the review and approval (if any) of such transaction shall be undertaken by the remaining members of the Audit 
Committee.

5.4 Disclosure

Disclosure will be made in the Company’s annual report of the aggregate value of the transactions conducted with interested 
persons pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate during the course of the financial year, and in the annual reports for the 
subsequent financial years that the shareholders’ mandate continues in force, in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 
9 of the Listing Manual.

6. VALIDITY PERIOD OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE

The renewed shareholders’ mandate will take effect from the passing of the resolution relating thereto, and will (unless revoked or 
varied by the Company in general meeting) continue in force until the next AGM of the Company. Approval from shareholders will 
be sought for the renewal of the shareholders’ mandate at the next AGM and at each subsequent AGM of the Company, subject 
to satisfactory review by the Audit Committee of its continued application to the transactions with interested persons.
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HIAP HOE LIMITED
Company Registration No. 199400676Z
(Incorporated In The Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Hiap Hoe Limited’s 

shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective 
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit 
their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame 
specified. If they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions 
to the CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them 
to vote on their behalf.

I/We,  

of  

being a member/members of Hiap Hoe Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to 
vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 20 April 
2010 at 11.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed 
at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the 
Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein 
includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009

2 Payment of proposed first and final dividend

3 Re-election of Mr Teo Ho Kang, Roland as a Director

4 Re-election of Mr Chan Wah Tiong as a Director

5 Re-appointment of Mr Teo Guan Seng, BBM as a Director

6 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$158,000

7 Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors

8 Authority to issue new shares

9 Authority to issue new shares up to discount of 20%

10 Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

11 Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

Dated this  day of  2010

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

 
Signature of Shareholder(s) or, 
Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If 
you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 
Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, 
you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your 
name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 
relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies 
to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be in the alternate unless he/she specifies the proportion of 
his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the 
Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, 
and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument 
of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 564A Balestier 
Road Singapore 329880 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under 
its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is 
executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a notarially certified copy thereof must 
be lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit 
to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 
illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may 
reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered 
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The 
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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